SAMUEL, KIBILDIS W., M.S. The Effects of Substance Use and Physical Activity on Prospective Memory in Young Adults (2021).

Directed by Dr. Jennifer Etnier. 61 pp.

Health behaviors including alcohol use, smoking, and physical activity (PA) are known to impact the progression of dementia and modifying these risk factors at a younger age may help to delay or prevent the onset of cognitive impairment. Prospective memory (PM) is an understudied aspect of cognition that heavily influences a person's day-to-day life. Alcohol use and smoking have both been demonstrated to negatively impact a person's PM ability; meanwhile, there is reason to believe that PA could help to enhance PM ability through shared pathways. In the present study, the interaction between these health behaviors and self-reported PM ability is explored in a cross-sectional survey of young adults. An online survey asking about substance use behaviors, PA behaviors, and PM ability was completed by 96 individuals in an undergraduate Kinesiology course. Analyses of variance and multiple regression were used to analyze the impact of these health behaviors on PM ability and their interactions with one another. No significant differences in PM ability were observed between heavy, low, and nonsubstance users nor between high, moderate, and low active young adults. The interaction of binge drinking with PA was able to explain some variance in PM scores such that non-binge drinkers had stronger PM ability and binge drinkers had weaker PM ability with increasing levels of PA. The present study provides evidence that the relationship between PA and PM ability in young adults may be moderated by binge drinking behaviors.

THE EFFECTS OF SUBSTANCE USE AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY ON PROSPECTIVE MEMORY IN YOUNG ADULTS

by

Samuel W. Kibildis

A THESIS

Submitted to

the Faculty of The Graduate School at

The University of North Carolina at Greensboro

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

Greensboro

2021

Approved by

Dr. Jennifer Etnier

Committee Chair

APPROVAL PAGE

This thesis written by Samuel W. Kibildis has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Committee Chair

Dr. Jennifer Etnier

Committee Members

Dr. Eric Drollette

Dr. Alexis Ganesh

4/27/2021

Date of Acceptance by Committee

4/22/2021

Date of Final Oral Examination

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A Thesis	i
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	6
Overview	6
Chronic Alcohol Use, Smoking, and Prospective Memory	8
Alcohol Use and Prospective Memory	9
Smoking and Prospective Memory	15
Chronic Physical Activity and Cognition	17
Physical Activity and Prospective Memory	19
CHAPTER III: METHODS	
Participants	
Design	
Questionnaires	
International Physical Activity Questionnaire	
Substance Use Questionnaire	
Beck Depression Inventory	
Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire	
Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	
Body Mass Index	

Physical Activity	28
Substance Use	29
Hypothesis 1	30
Hypothesis 2	30
Hypothesis 3	31
Hypothesis 4	33
Hypothesis 5	33
Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire-Prospective Memory Subscale	33
Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire-Retrospective Memory Subscale	36
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	38
Limitations	41
Recommendations for Future Research	42
Conclusion	43
REFERENCES	44
APPENDIX A: SUBSTANCE USE DETAILS	55

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic Information	
Table 2. Body Mass Index Categories	
Table 3. IPAQ Categories	
Table 4. Substance Use Categorization	
Table 5. Age Correlations	
Table 6. Physical Activity Correlations	
Table 7. PRMQ-PM Subscale Regression Model Summaries.	
Table 8. PRMQ-RM Subscale Regression Model Summaries	
Table A1. Ever Used Alcohol	55
Table A2. Age of First Drink	55
Table A3. Days of Alcohol in the Past 30	55
Table A4. Days of Binge Drinking	
Table A5. Most Drinks in A Sitting	56
Table A6. Ever Smoked	57
Table A7. Age of First Smoke	57
Table A8. Days of Cigarettes	57
Table A9. Cigarettes/Day	
Table A10. Ever Used EVP	
Table A11. EVP with Nicotine	

Table A12. Nicotine Concentration	58
Table A13. Days of EVP Use	59
Table A14. Occasions of EVP Use per Day	59
Table A15. Puffs of EVP per Occasion	60
Table A16. Use of Chew, Snuff, Dip, etc. in the Past 30 Days	60
Table A17. Use of Cigars, Cigarillos, etc. in the Past 30 Days	60
Table A18. Use of Other Drugs	61

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. PM-Cigarette Age Correlation	32
Figure 2. RM-Cigarette Age Correlation	32
Figure 3. BDI-PM Subscale Regression	34
Figure 4. Total PA*Binge Drinking Interaction	35
Figure 5. BDI-RM Subscale Regression	37

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

According to the 2020 Report of the Lancet Commission, 40% of dementias worldwide are due to 12 modifiable behavioral risk factors. Three of these risk factors are excessive alcohol consumption, smoking, and physical inactivity. In 2018, more than half of the United States' (US) adult population drank alcohol in the past 30 days, as revealed by the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System [BRFSS] survey. About 7% of the population engaged in heavy drinking, defined by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC; 2020) as drinking more than 14 or 7 drinks per week for men and women, respectively. It is estimated that excessive alcohol consumption cost the United States \$249 billion in 2010 (CDC, 2020) and alcohol is perhaps the most commonly used recreational drug in Western society (Heffernan, 2012). Long-term alcohol consumption has been linked to many negative health consequences including increased risk for cancer, high blood pressure, heart and liver disease, stroke, immune system disorders, and mental health problems (World Health Organization [WHO], 2019). Chronic alcohol consumption is also known to cause learning and memory problems, acting as a risk factor for dementia and cognitive decline (Anstey et al., 2009).

According to the CDC (2020), smoking is the leading cause of preventable death and costs the US billions of dollars every year. In 2018, 13.7% of all adults (34.2 million people) were currently smokers (CDC, 2020). The negative health consequences of smoking are well-established, including increased risk for cancer, heart disease, stroke, lung diseases, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), tuberculosis, eye diseases, immune system disorders, and reproductive issues (US Department of Health and Human Services [HHS], 2014). Jha and colleagues (2013) established that smokers die 10 years earlier than nonsmokers, on average. Like alcohol use, smoking is known to serve as a risk factor for dementia and cognitive decline (Anstey et al., 2007).

The HHS President's Council on Sports, Fitness, and Nutrition (2017) reported that fewer than 5% of American adults participate in at least 30 minutes of physical activity (PA) every day. The CDC's Healthy People 2020 report stated that only one-fourth of US adults and one-fifth of US adolescents meet PA guidelines as established by the HHS (2018).

The cognitive reserve hypothesis (Stern, 2002, 2009) posits that every individual has a cognitive reserve which describes individual differences in brain structure and cognitive processes. This cognitive reserve decreases as an individual ages or experiences brain damage such as dementia pathology. An individual with higher levels of cognitive reserve could experience greater cognitive decline before showing symptomology of memory decline or dementia. There is evidence that health behaviors including PA, smoking, and drinking can impact the neuronal networks of the brain in such a way that could influence cognitive reserve. Specifically, excess alcohol use and cigarette smoking can result in brain atrophy, or shrinkage, and cigarette smoking is associated with abnormalities of the biology and structure of the brain (Kril & Halliday, 2004; Durazzo et al., 2010). Researchers in neuroimaging studies have shown that the activation of the frontal lobe and the activation and size of the medial temporal lobe (MTL) are negatively associated with heavy alcohol use (Agartz et al., 1999; Wendt & Risberg, 2001), and nicotine use (Levin et al., 2005). Chronic PA can preserve brain size as an individual grows older and stimulates neurogenesis in the MTL (Benedict et al., 2013; Brown et al., 2003). Further, PA preserves brain volume and neuronal structural integrity (Cheng, 2016). Together, the literature supports the idea that PA could mediate the effects of alcohol and smoking on cognitive decline that ultimately leads to dementia.

While dementia is likely not on the forefront of young adults' attention, it is interesting to consider how these negative health behaviors that are common in young adults could influence their cognition as they age. Young adults are at a critical juncture in development, and negative impacts on the brain during this period of life, such as the neurotoxic effects of alcohol and nicotine, could disproportionately impact development (Crews & Boettiger, 2009; Jacobus & Tapert, 2013). In young adulthood, an individual's behaviors heavily impact their cognitive reserve; the healthy and unhealthy behaviors an individual performs during young adulthood could influence cognitive reserve more than the same behaviors performed in another part of life. Despite this, individuals in their early 20s report the highest levels of excessive alcohol use (Patrick et al., 2016) and the prevalence of smoking still sits above 10% for adults age 18-24 (Levy et al., 2019).

The specific effects of excessive substance use during young adulthood on cognitive reserve may not be fully elucidated until significant research is performed; there is evidence, though, that

substance use may have particular deficits for aspects of memory that are critical for everyday function. Specifically, prospective memory (PM) is described as the formation, retention, and retrieval of intentions and their associated actions that cannot be realized at the time of encoding (Ellis, 1996). Common examples include remembering to stop for gas the next time you leave the house or remembering to attend a meeting at a certain time. Better PM can improve quality of life and increase an individual's years of independent living (Schmitter-Edgecombe et al., 2009). Failures of PM can detrimentally impact a person's health, well-being, social status, and career (Cuttler et al., 2017). When asked subjectively about memory failures experienced in everyday life, PM failures are the most common, and when asked to report their most recent memory failure, over half of individuals responded with a PM failure (Crovitz & Daniel, 1984; Einstein & McDaniel, 1996; Kliegel & Martin, 2003).

There is evidence to demonstrate impaired PM ability in heavy drinkers (Heffernan et al., 2002; Ling et al., 2003; Heffernan et al., 2004; Heffernan, 2008; Ling et al., 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012) and in smokers (Heffernan et al., 2005; Heffernan et al., 2010; Dawkins et al., 2013). Notably, these groups with impaired PM have been shown to not use strategies to compensate for their memory, likely due to lack of awareness or concern of their impairment (Heffernan et al., 2002; Heffernan, 2008; Heffernan et al., 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012). Considering this, it may prove essential to determine other ways to preserve or otherwise enhance PM in heavy substance users.

Executive functioning (EF) is the aspect of the brain related to many higher order functions such as organizing, prioritizing, regulating emotions, understanding different points of view, and self-monitoring (Understood Team, 2021). EF's three main areas are working memory, cognitive flexibility, and inhibitory control (including self-control; Understood Team, 2021). Working memory is the ability of the brain to hold on to new information and use it in some way. Cognitive flexibility refers to an individual's ability to think about multiple concepts at the same time and to switch between two different concepts (Magnusson & Brim, 2014). EF, and working memory in particular, have been demonstrated to share resources with PM (Dobbs & Reeves, 1996; Marsh & Hicks, 1998; Kliegel et al., 2002; West et al., 2006; see also, Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012) and have shown impairments with heavy alcohol use and with smoking (Mendrek et al., 2006; Glass et al., 2008).

There is reason to believe that chronic PA could help to alleviate impaired PM ability in heavy drinkers and smokers. It is well established that chronic PA can impact brain structures in the frontal lobe (Guiney & Machado, 2012) and the MTL, (Erickson et al., 2011; Bugg & Head, 2011; Griffin et al., 2011). In a review, Loprinzi and colleagues (2018) make the argument that regular PA could also affect PM through emotional states. Both PM ability and regular PA are associated with mood state and emotional memory. Given the shared salience of emotion, Loprinzi and colleagues argue that there is plausibility to the idea of a relationship between regular PA and PM.

While there has been a paucity of research related to PA effects on PM in particular, there is research demonstrating a positive relationship between chronic PA and cognitive performance in young adults (for review see Guiney & Macahado, 2012). Padilla et al. (2014) and Pérez et al. (2014) have provided evidence that chronic PA in young adults has positive effects on EF, specifically inhibition and working memory. In a recent meta-analytic review, Haverkamp and colleagues (2020) found a small effect (Hedge's g=0.36; 95% CI=[0.25, 0.47]) of chronic PA on cognitive outcomes in individuals aged 12-20 years old. In this review, EF (Hedge's g=0.354; 95% CI =[0.207, 0.501]) and working memory specifically (Hedge's g=0.587; 95% CI=[0.274, 0.9]) demonstrated small-to-large effects for chronic PA interventions. Since these two measures have been shown to share resources with PM (Dobbs & Reeves, 1996; Marsh & Hicks, 1998; Kliegel et al., 2002; West et al., 2006; see also, Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012), the effect sizes of chronic PA on these measures lend further support for the idea that chronic PA could affect PM ability.

Emerging research has begun to investigate the potential of a relationship between PA and PM, albeit with acute PA. Cuttler and colleagues (2017) demonstrated that performance decreases on objective measures of PM performed during a bout of aerobic PA but can be enhanced following an acute bout of resistance PA. Other studies of PM were unable to find a relationship between objective measures of PM and acute PA (Frith et al., 2017; Green & Loprinzi, 2018). Frith and colleagues (2017) found no difference between control participants or participants who performed PA at different times in PM task performance as assessed by a delayed phone call from the subject to the researcher. Green and Loprinzi (2018) found no difference in PM task performance as assessed by the Royal Prince Alfred PM Test (RPA-ProMem Test; Radford et

al., 2011) between groups who performed 15 minutes of treadmill walking or 15 minutes of sitting. To date, no study has been conducted examining the effects of chronic PA behaviors on PM, nor has any study examined self-reported PM and a potential relationship to PA.

Thus, the purpose of the present experiment was: (1) to replicate findings of decreased selfreported PM in young adults with a history of excessive drinking or smoking, (2) to explore the relationship between chronic PA and self-reported PM in young adults, and (3) to investigate chronic PA as a potential moderator of the relationship between self-reported substance use and PM. It was hypothesized that young adults with any history of drinking or smoking would have impaired PM ability compared to those who have never drunk or smoked. Also, it was hypothesized that young adults who report excessive drinking or smoking will report lower levels of PM as compared to non-substance users and low-intensity users, that young adults' PM ability would correlate positively with the age that substance use began, that young adults with higher levels of PA would self-report stronger PM ability compared to young adults with lower levels of PA, and that levels of PA and substance users with higher levels of PA will display stronger PM ability than substance users with lower levels of PA.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Overview

PM can be defined as remembering to do something at a particular moment in the future or executing a previously formed intention (Ellis et al., 1996). Common examples include remembering to stop at the store on the way home from work or remembering to take medication in the morning. PM is related to quality of life and independent living (Schmitter-Edgecombe et al., 2009), and failures of PM can detrimentally impact a person's social, financial, and occupational status as well as their health and general well-being (Cuttler et al., 2017). Despite its importance, failures of PM are the most common memory failures experienced in everyday life (Crovitz & Daniel, 1984; Kliegel & Martin, 2003).

PM is often referenced as having two categories: event-based and time-based. Event-based PM requires an individual to remember to perform an action when stimulated by an external cue in the environment, while time-based PM requires an individual to remember to perform an action at a particular time or after a certain amount of time has passed (Einstein & McDaniel, 1996). Event-based PM is inherently reliant on an external cue as successful remembering can only occur in the presence of the external event; on the other hand, if no external mnemonic is used as a strategy in aiding a time-based PM task, there is no external event that prompts action and an individual must instead rely on self-initiated retrieval to successfully perform the task (Einstein et al., 1995).

In line with Craik's (1986) theory that self-initiated retrieval is impaired with increasing age, Einstein et al. (1995) provided evidence that performance on time-based PM tasks relying on self-initiated retrieval decreases more dramatically with increasing age than performance on event-based PM tasks. Following this, McDaniel and Einstein (2000) proposed the multiprocess framework of PM which theorizes that people depend on both attention-demanding monitoring and automatic spontaneous retrieval for successful PM. At the time, monitoring theories believed that an executive attention system is committed to tracking the PM task and interrupting ongoing processes when the PM action is to be performed. Theories of spontaneous retrieval stated that no executive resources are spent on monitoring the PM task and the intention is successfully retrieved spontaneously, or cued by an external event, when the PM action is to be performed. In an experiment seeking to provide evidence for the theory, subjects were asked to perform PM tasks while performing various ongoing cognitive tasks. In theory, the monitoring view of PM would assume a cost to ongoing tasks as some of the executive is attending to the PM task; on the other hand, the spontaneous retrieval viewpoint would expect no cost to ongoing tasks. Results demonstrated that PM tasks could be successfully completed with no cost to ongoing tasks (i.e., spontaneous retrieval) or with different amounts of cost to the ongoing task, the level of focus devoted to the PM task, and other individual differences. Thus, Einstein and colleagues (2005) concluded that PM tasks can be successfully completed with monitoring, spontaneous retrieval, or a combination of the two.

A large body of research exists for PM and aging, through which the field has been able to advance significantly. Schnitzspahn and colleagues (2011) demonstrated that older adults display significantly lower PM performance than younger adults in a laboratory setting, but significantly higher prospective memory performance in naturalistic settings. These findings replicated evidence from Rendell and Craik (2000) that there is an age-PM paradox regularly observed in that older adults perform better on PM in the real-world despite performing worse in highly controlled laboratory scenarios. Schnitzspahn and colleagues found that the age benefit for older adults in naturalistic settings was most strongly associated with the level of absorption in everyday tasks. In other words, older adults' day-to-day lives are filled with less demanding activities than younger adults, allowing older adults to devote more time to setting up strategies to aid PM and to carry out PM tasks when compared to younger adults. However, the improved PM ability of older adults in natural settings was also associated with higher motivation, improved metacognition, and self-awareness of an individual's PM abilities.

Older adults are not the only population to display decreased PM ability in a laboratory setting relative to healthy young adults, though, and it is important to consider how an individual experiences PM changes throughout the life span. Young adults specifically are at a critical juncture in terms of brain development, and negative impacts on the brain during this period of life such as negative health behaviors including alcohol consumption and smoking are likely to

⁷

influence the aging process. This could be viewed in terms of the cognitive reserve hypothesis (Stern, 2002, 2009) which theorizes that, throughout the lifespan, an individual builds up a reserve based on individual differences in cognitive processes and their underlying neural networks. Both healthy and unhealthy behaviors performed by young adults, being at a critical point of brain development, could disproportionately impact the amount of cognitive reserve that an individual creates. When the aging process occurs, or in the event of brain damage, an individual with greater cognitive reserve would have to experience greater decline than an individual with less cognitive reserve before displaying symptomology of cognitive dysfunction.

Heffernan, O'Neill, Zamroziewicz, and other researchers have demonstrated that PM ability is impaired in chronic alcohol users and smokers in laboratory settings, and that the individuals in these populations, contrary to older adults, are not aware of their PM deficits (Heffernan et al., 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012; Zamroziewicz et al, 2017). Since individuals performing these unhealthy behaviors display cognitive deficits and a likely decrease in cognitive reserve, there is justification to explore the extent of the deficits in this group, and to consider lifestyle factors, strategies, and other health behaviors that could help to offset this decline, such as PA.

Chronic Alcohol Use, Smoking, and Prospective Memory

In a line of systematic research, researchers have provided ample evidence to demonstrate impaired PM in samples of heavy substance users, both clinical and non-clinical. Specifically, researchers have observed subjective and objective PM failures in chronic heavy alcohol users (Heffernan et al., 2002; Ling et al., 2003; Heffernan et al., 2004; Heffernan, 2008; Ling et al., 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012) and chronic smokers (Heffernan et al., 2005; Heffernan et al., 2010; Dawkins et al., 2013). Notably, these groups with impaired PM have been shown to not use strategies to compensate for their memory, likely due to lack of awareness or concern of their impairment (Heffernan et al., 2002; Heffernan, 2008; Heffernan et al., 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012). Considering this, it may prove essential to determine other ways to preserve or otherwise enhance PM in heavy substance users. In particular, Heffernan (2008) has called for future research to investigate the impact of protective factors, including PA, on cognitive impairments associated with heavy substance use.

ALCOHOL USE AND PROSPECTIVE MEMORY

The line of research into alcohol use and PM began in 2002 with Heffernan and colleagues' study comparing thirty heavy-alcohol drinkers and thirty low-alcohol drinkers on self-reported PM. At the time, it was known that chronic heavy alcohol users displayed impairment on a range of cognitive tasks including learning word lists, short- and long-term logical memory, general working memory, and EF (Grant et al., 1987; Bechara et al., 2001; Selby et al., 1998; Ambrose et al., 2001; Wendt et al., 2001). While the chronic heavy alcohol use literature had previously focused on retrospective memory (RM), this study sought to extend the knowledge of memory deficits in heavy drinkers by comparing their PM ability to that of low-dose or non-drinkers using the PM Questionnaire (PMQ; Hannon et al., 1995). This scale is a self-report measure that consists of four subscales: (1) short-term habitual PM (PMQ-ST), (2) long-term episodic PM (PMQ-LT), (3) internally-cued PM (PMQ-IC), and (4) the techniques to remember scale (PMQ-STRAT). For the purposes of this study, a heavy-alcohol drinker was defined as drinking more than the maximum weekly recommended amount by the United Kingdom (UK) government for the past five years, while a low-alcohol drinker had less than the maximum weekly recommended amount (28 and 21 units of alcohol per week for men and women, respectively; a unit of alcohol is defined as 10 mL or 8g of pure alcohol – equivalent to approximately one 1 oz. shot of spirits, a 5 oz. glass of wine or a 12 oz. can of beer [Drinkaware, 2020]). The results of the study were as hypothesized -- that is, a greater impairment was evident on the three PM subscales of the PMQ for heavy-alcohol drinkers when compared to low-alcohol drinkers. Additionally, it was noted that there was no difference in the number of memory strategies used between groups as evidenced by the PMQ-STRAT, despite heavy-alcohol users having an obvious impairment.

It is also important to note that Heffernan et al. (2002) used 'other drug use' as a covariate in their analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), reporting that this was a common procedure in the substance use and cognition literature. However, as the field progressed, it was found that other drugs, including nicotine, cannabis, and ecstasy, have associations with PM (Heffernan, Jarvis, et al., 2001; Heffernan, Ling et al., 2001; Bartholomew et al., 2010; for meta-analysis, see Platt et al., 2019). Some researchers continue to use these as covariates, while others exclude participants for using these drugs, and still others study 'multi-drug use' as a separate category.

The use of other drugs as a covariate should statistically control for the influence of these other drugs and isolate the findings to alcohol use, but considering potential interactions between alcohol and other drugs, it is important to note inclusion or exclusion of other drugs and how they are controlled for and assessed.

Heffernan et al. (2002) proposed various mechanisms through which they believed chronic heavy alcohol use could inhibit PM abilities. Firstly, they noted brain shrinkage that occurs with heavy alcohol use that could be permanent (Kril & Halliday, 1998). In addition, alcohol can reduce the number of cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain, impairing hippocampal function (Garcia-Moreno et al., 2001). Inhibition of the function of the prefrontal lobe caused by alcohol could prove to be a promising mechanism as well, considering PM's relationship with the frontal and prefrontal regions of the brain (Okuda et al., 1998; McDaniel et al., 1999, Wendt & Risberg, 2001). Lastly, they discussed the putative depletion of neurotransmitters caused by alcohol (Hunter, 2000).

Heffernan et al. (2002) also discussed the weaknesses and limitations of their study, especially exploring the issue of self-report. They discussed a 'memory paradox;' the PMQ and other self-report measures of memory are asking subjects to remember how frequently they forget. It is likely someone with high levels of forgetting could forget how often they forget. This would lead to under-reporting. They argued, though, that the under-reporting would be more likely to occur for the heavy-alcohol drinkers, which would add to the strength of their findings, if anything.

Following Heffernan and colleagues' paper, the literature on alcohol use and PM began to evolve. While the literature base is too large to cover in its entirety, the work led by Heffernan, Ling, and colleagues is especially important. Ling and colleagues (2003) were able to replicate Heffernan's findings, to some degree. The major differences between this publication and that of Heffernan et al. (2002) were the questionnaire format, the sample size, and the addition of the Everyday Memory Questionnaire (EMQ; Sunderland et al., 1983) in addition to the PMQ. Thanks to a web-based format, Ling and colleagues were able to recruit 763 participants. The results of the demographic questionnaire revealed that the majority of the sample was female (60.9%), 21-25 years old (32%), European (71%), had some university education (31%), and drank at least some alcohol during a typical week (79.4%). This means that 20.6% drank no alcohol (no-alcohol). The subjects who reported drinking were further categorized into three groups -- 41.7% of the sample consumed 1-9 units of alcohol per week (light-alcohol), 29.8% of the sample consumed 10-25 units of alcohol per week (moderate-alcohol), and 8% of the sample consumed more than 25 units of alcohol per week (heavy-alcohol). In addition, it is important to note that the data was screened to allow only one submission per IP address, so that each household could presumably only submit one response with the assumption that this would help to avoid duplicate responses. Furthermore, any participant who had reported being under the influence of alcohol or drugs as they completed the questionnaire was excluded.

The results of this paper were interesting in a unique way. The authors of the study made a point to examine the psychometric properties of the PMQ and the EMQ in their study and noted that PMQ-ST and PMQ-IC subscales lacked reliability. As such, Ling et al. drew no conclusions from the data provided by these subscales. This meant that the remaining scales were the PMQ-LT, the PMQ-STRAT, and the EMQ. Results show that the heavy-alcohol group experienced more memory problems on both the PMQ-LT and the EMQ than the no-alcohol and light-alcohol groups and began to elucidate a dose-response relationship between alcohol consumption and everyday memory and PM. The effect sizes between the heavy-alcohol group and the no-alcohol and light-alcohol groups were moderate-to-large (Cohen's d=0.62 and 0.50, respectively). Per these findings, the magnitude of difference between PM in the heavy-alcohol group and the noalcohol and light-alcohol groups is large enough that the difference should be noticeable to the casual observer. Ling et al. also noted that the online nature of their study conferred many advantages: a larger sample with more statistical power, participants being more willing to admit to drug use on an anonymous online site (Joinson et al., 1999), and participants being willing to disclose more while experiencing less influence from social desirability bias (Joinson et al., 1999).

While Ling and colleagues (2003) were able to replicate many of Heffernan and colleagues' findings (2002), there was no new understanding of the mechanisms involved in alcohol's effect on PM at this time. Ling et al. also noted that without a longitudinal study, there is no way to say that the alcohol use is the reason for the PM and everyday memory deficits. It was also noted that a young sample was used, and PM impairment may be more noticeable in an older sample.

In 2004, Heffernan and colleagues compared 80 adults aged 18-35 years old who reported no drug use other than alcohol and cigarettes. Half of the sample was made up of heavy drinkers who consumed between 21 and 46 units of alcohol per week, and the other half of the sample was made up of light drinkers who consumed between 0 and 10 units of alcohol per week. Of the 40 light drinkers, 9 were non-drinkers. The subjects completed the PMQ and the dysexecutive questionnaire (DEX; Wilson et al., 1996), which Burgess and colleagues (1998) demonstrated to measure five factors: (1) inhibition, (2) intention, (3) executive memory, (4) positive affect, and (5) negative affect. Results showed a significant difference in all measures on the PMQ and DEX between the heavy and light drinking groups except for the PMQ-STRAT subscale. In other words, heavy drinkers reported greater impairments in PM as measured by the PMQ and greater impairments in central EF as measured by the DEX. Heavy drinkers did not report using more strategies to compensate for their memory impairments when compared to light drinkers.

In 2008, Heffernan published a review of the alcohol and PM literature. In this review, Heffernan made the argument that excess alcohol use leads to impaired PM, that impaired PM could have implications for treating substance use in young adults and teenagers, and that there are many directions for future research in this field. Areas for future research included exploring the use of objective measures of PM, clarifying the specific PM deficits in young adults and teenagers caused by binge-drinking, exploring the effects of a pregnant woman drinking on the child's PM, exploring the potential of a benefit to PM when alcohol is consumed in moderation, differentiating the effects of acute as compared to chronic alcohol misuse, exploring the link between PM deficits and other areas of cognition, and exploring the impact of protective factors like PA on PM in chronic heavy alcohol users.

Ling and colleagues (2010) made further advancements in the alcohol use and PM literature. They sought to collect interval as opposed to categorical data for alcohol consumption by asking subjects to report units of alcohol consumed per week rather than asking them to self-categorize into groups based on ranges of units consumed. They also sought to introduce a clinical sample to the literature, specifically individuals in a hospital-based alcohol counseling service. This allowed for a comparison between current, nonclinical heavy alcohol drinkers (current heavy drinkers) and those who had previously consumed significant and potentially harmful amounts of alcohol but had undergone a short period of abstinence (former heavy drinkers). In this study, Ling et al. demonstrated that current heavy drinkers consistently reported the worst PM ability, followed by former heavy drinkers, then the moderate alcohol user group, then the light alcohol user group, then the never used alcohol group. Notably, though, the relationship between alcohol use and scores on the various PMQ subscales did not present linearly. The additional major finding was that the former heavy drinkers displayed some level of cognitive recovery following their period of abstinence. This finding is in line with other research demonstrating that there is a rapid cognitive recovery in alcoholics who abstain from alcohol (Leber et al., 1981; Bartsch et al., 2007).

Most recently, Heffernan and O'Neill (2012) demonstrated that binge drinkers aged 18-35 years experience time-based PM detriments when compared to non-binge drinkers in the same age group. Specifically, binge drinkers were defined as males who drink more than 8 units of alcohol or females who drink more than 6 units of alcohol in one session at least once per week. Like the chronic drinking literature, Heffernan and O'Neill demonstrated that those with PM impairments due to alcohol use lack perception of their detriment. Additionally, this study was the first in the alcohol use literature to use the Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ; Smith, 2000) as opposed to the PMQ. After Buchanan et al. (2005) brought to light psychometric concerns of the PMQ, specifically that the PMQ-ST and PMQ-IC subscales do not cluster in such a way to measure any latent variable when administered in a web-based format, researchers have largely shifted to the PRMQ. The PRMQ is a 16 item self-report questionnaire with two questions for each type of memory. The type of memory is defined by three domains: prospective or retrospective, self-cued or externally cued, and short-term or long-term delay. In other words, there are two questions assessing prospective, self-cued, short-term delay memory, two questions assessing retrospective, externally cued, long-term delay memory, two questions assessing prospective, externally cued, short-term delay memory, and so on. The PRMQ has reported good reliability for three scales, with Chronbach's alpha coefficients of 0.89, 0.84, and 0.80 for a total memory scale, a PM subscale, and a RM subscale, respectively (Crawford et al., 2003). Four other studies were able to replicate the factorial structure found by Crawford et al. (Crawford et al., 2005; Rönnlund et al., 2008; Piauilino et al., 2010; Hsu & Hua, 2011) but the cue and delay domains have not been found to create any factors that help to explain the data (Crawford et al., 2003; Blondelle et al., 2020).

Interestingly, Heffernan and O'Neill (2012) found no differences between groups on the PRMQ. The time-based PM impairments came to light instead with a standardized, objective measure of PM known as the Cambridge PM Test (CAMPROMPT; Wilson et al., 2005). This test challenges subjects to complete three time-based and three event-based PM tasks in the laboratory setting. While individuals are not allowed to use their own external cues or strategies, each task has multiple cues beyond the first. Scores on each individual task range from 6 (completed correctly with no extra cues) to 0 (failure to complete the task) and the score is calculated separately for the event-based tasks and the time-based tasks. As such, total scores on the CAMPROMPT range from 0-36, with a maximum score of 18 for each subscale. The difference in the time-based subscale of the CAMPROMPT between binge drinkers and non-binge drinkers was significant, as was the difference in the total CAMPROMPT score between groups. Event-based PM revealed no significant difference based on this study's results.

Other important studies in this area include the work by Zamroziewicz and colleagues (2017) and the meta-analysis by Platt and colleagues (2019). Zamroziewicz et al. surveyed 123 third and fourth-year college students on their alcohol use as part of the large-scale study Brain and Alcohol Research in College Students (BARCS). Researchers embedded objective time- and event-based PM tasks in the larger testing session, modelled after tasks in the Memory for Intentions Test (MIST; Raskin, 2004). While these tasks were not formally validated, heavy drinkers performed significantly worse on the time-based PM task than nondrinkers. Results also revealed a significant correlation between the number of reported blackouts from alcohol in the previous month and performance on the event-based PM task.

In 2019, Platt and colleagues conducted a meta-analytic review of the effects of licit and illicit drug use on PM. The researchers only considered objective measures of PM, and ultimately included 7 studies in their analysis, with a grand total of N=348 subjects. Analysis showed a significant impairment of event-based PM in heavy alcohol drinkers compared to control groups, with an effect size in the moderate to large range (SMD=-0.69, 95% CI=[-1.09, -0.30]). Heterogeneity was moderate (I²=62%) with no single study contributing more significantly than the others. Only five of these studies assessed time-based PM, and results indicated a large range in effect size (SMD=-0.814, 95% CI=[-1.70, 0.02]). However, Platt et al. reported a high level of heterogeneity that was completely eliminated (i.e., I²=0%) after the removal of one study. The

effect size without this study was significant and in the small to moderate range (SMD=-0.43, 95% CI=[-0.72, -0.13]).

Ultimately, researchers have demonstrated impaired PM ability in heavy drinkers and binge drinkers. Based on self-reported strategies, heavy alcohol users do not attempt to compensate despite displaying a PM deficit. As such, other strategies to mitigate PM deficits in heavy alcohol users may be needed.

SMOKING AND PROSPECTIVE MEMORY

Compared to alcohol use, less exploration has occurred with regards to the impacts of tobacco and nicotine use on PM. To my knowledge, only two published studies to date have examined chronic tobacco and nicotine use relative to PM. Previous reports on cognition and smoking showed mixed results, although it was thought that the improved cognition displayed in some acute smoking studies was potentially just the reversal of abstinence or withdrawal symptoms (Parrott and Garnham, 1998; Williams, 1980). Considering the short-lived effect of nicotine in the blood, and the way that blood nicotine levels vary with inhalation patterns, it is crucial to consider nicotine abstinence when studying smoking (for review, see Parrott, 1998).

With the same sample as Ling et al. (2003), Heffernan et al. (2005) examined 763 individuals' smoking habits and self-reported memory ability with the web-based PMQ and EMQ. Unfortunately, while the study did ask subjects to report if they were currently under the influence of any drugs, it was not clarified if these participants were excluded or statistically controlled for, leaving current nicotine levels in smokers as a potential confounding variable. The 763 subjects were broken into four categories based on smoking habits: nonsmokers (61.3%), light smokers at 1-4 cigarettes per day (10.8%), moderate smokers at 5-14 cigarettes per day (16.5%), or heavy smokers at 15+ cigarettes per day (11.5%). The results of the study showed that heavy smokers reported more lapses in long-term PM than moderate smokers and nonsmokers, and a positive linear dose-response relationship was noted between reported lapses in PM and levels of smoking. An effect size analysis demonstrated that a heavy smoker could be expected to experience 21.59% and 16.46% more PM problems than nonsmokers and moderate smokers and moderate smokers, respectively. It was suggested that future research attempt objective measures of PM

and include ratings of depression, given that there is a relationship between smoking and clinical depression (Breslau et al., 1992; Hall et al., 1993) as well as a relationship between depression and a person's subjective opinion of their memory abilities (Hendricks et al., 2002).

Heffernan and colleagues (2010) conducted another study on chronic smoking and PM. Since the 2005 study, the psychometric properties of the PMQ had been called into question (Buchanan et al., 2005) and there had been no replication of the PM deficit in smokers using a different questionnaire. As such, Heffernan et al. planned to use the newer, more reliable PRMQ and an objective measure of PM, namely the CAMPROMPT. Heffernan et al. recruited 18 smokers and 22 non-smokers. Results demonstrated that subjects did not report differential lapses on the PRMQ based on smoking status. The smokers performed significantly worse on both subtests within the CAMPROMPT -- event-based and time-based PM -- as well as on CAMPROMPT total scores. This was the case despite participants in the smoking group being asked to smoke directly before involvement in the test to avoid any potential for nicotine withdrawal. Results also showed a negative correlation between the length of smoking in years and scores on the CAMPROMPT. Lastly, Heffernan et al. found no difference in the reported number of strategies used by smokers as measured by the PMQ-STRAT. This, combined with the lack of self-reported lapses, provides some insight that smokers may be unaware of their PM failures, or otherwise not compensating for these deficits.

Ultimately, similar to drinkers, smokers show deficits in PM ability, though these groups do not always report a perceived deficit and do not report using more or fewer strategies than control comparisons. The prevalence of smoking, while continuing to decrease, still sits above 10% for adults aged 18-24 (Levy et al., 2019), and individuals in their early 20s report the highest levels of binge and high-intensity drinking (Patrick et al., 2016). As such, it could prove important to identify other strategies for improving PM ability in these groups. There is potential for regular PA to improve PM ability as chronic PA has been shown to improve other measures of cognition.

Chronic Physical Activity and Cognition

Young adults are at a critical juncture in development, and negative impacts on the brain during this period of life, such as the neurotoxic effects of alcohol and nicotine, could disproportionately impact development and levels of cognitive reserve (Crews & Boettiger, 2009; Jacobus & Tapert, 2013). The potential for regular long-term PA to affect PM in young adults who drink and smoke is based on the pathways shared by the variables (Loprinzi et al., 2018). Specifically, it is well established that chronic PA can positively impact brain structures in the frontal lobe (Guiney & Machado, 2012) and the MTL (Erickson et al., 2010; Bugg & Head, 2011; Griffin et al., 2001; Simons et al., 2006; Kliegel et al., 2008) and the MTL (Gordon et al., 2011) in PM processes. Lastly, heavy alcohol and nicotine use are known to negatively impact the frontal lobe (Wendt & Risberg, 2001; Levin et al., 2005) and heavy alcohol use causes deficits in the MTL (Agartz et al., 1999).

In addition, PM is demonstrated to share similar resources with EF, and working memory in particular (Dobbs & Reeves, 1996; Marsh & Hicks, 1998; Kliegel et al., 2002; West et al., 2006; see also, Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012). Researchers have demonstrated that EF and working memory are impaired in individuals with a history of heavy alcohol use and in individuals with a history of smoking (Mendrek et al., 2006; Glass et al., 2008). Specifically, smokers demonstrated similar working memory ability as nonsmokers when they were tested within an hour of smoking but demonstrated significantly decreased working memory ability when tested after at least 13 hours of abstinence. This observed impairment with abstinence could serve as an obstacle for individuals looking to quit smoking (Mendrek et al., 2006). PA has demonstrated a positive impact on working memory, EF, and other cognitive variables, which could help to moderate the impacts of drinking and smoking on PM ability.

With regards to young adults, an early review reported that higher levels of PA have been associated with better task switching (Guiney & Macahado, 2012). In addition, young adults display an association between fitness level and top-down modulation of attention and control, and similarly to older adults, regular aerobic PA has also been shown to improve young adults' working memory updating (Guiney & Machado, 2012). Further, evidence has demonstrated that

chronic PA in young adults is positively associated with EF, specifically inhibition and working memory (Padilla et al., 2014; Pérez et al., 2014).

The impacts of chronic PA on cognitive function in young adults have been reported metaanalytically by multiple groups, including Etnier, Salazar, and colleagues (1997), Etnier, Nowell, and colleagues (2006), Verburgh and colleagues (2013), Roig and colleagues (2013), and Haverkamp and colleagues (2020). In 1997, Etnier and colleagues reported a small effect of chronic PA on cognitive functioning (Hedge's g=0.33, SD=0.58) which consistently decreased with greater experimental rigor. In young adults specifically, chronic PA revealed a moderate effect size (Hedge's g=0.64 for participants aged 18-30 years old). The type of cognitive task was not assessed as a moderator for chronic PA effects in this meta-analysis.

Using meta-regression, Etnier and colleagues (2006) found a small, positive association between PA and cognitive performance across 37 studies (ES=0.34). However, this study also found no support for the hypothesis that cardiovascular fitness can predict cognitive performance. In fact, in young adults, fitness level in cross sectional studies demonstrated a negative relationship with cognitive performance, and fitness was not predictive of cognitive performance in pre- and posttest comparisons.

More recently, Verburgh et al. (2013) found no effect of chronic PA on EF when 5 studies of individuals aged 6-35 years old were analyzed meta-analytically (Cohen's d=0.14, 95% CI=[-0.04, 0.32]). Of these 5 studies, only one used a young adult sample, assessing inhibition and interference in 27 individuals. Stroth et al. (2009) reported a small-to-moderate effect (Cohen's d=0.39; 95% CI=[-0.07, 1.45]). The lack of evidence available for this meta-analysis demonstrates the lack of previous research on the impacts of chronic PA on EF.

Roig and colleagues (2013) reviewed the effects of 19 long-term PA studies on memory metaanalytically. Their results revealed a small but significant effect on memory (SMD=0.15, 95% CI=[0.04, 0.25]). When broken down by memory type, this effect was observed for short-term (SMD=0.15, 95% CI=[0.02, 0.27]) but not long-term (SMD=0.07, 95% CI = [-0.13, 0.26]) RM. There was no study included concerning PM. In this meta-analysis young adults revealed the largest improvement in short-term memory after long-term PA when compared to other age groups, but Roig et al. note that only four long-term PA studies used young adults, with only one assessing long-term memory.

Most recently, Haverkamp and colleagues (2020) meta-analytically reviewed the effects of PA interventions on cognitive outcomes and academic performance in individuals aged 12-30 years. Ultimately, 27 chronic intervention studies were included in the review, with 52 effect sizes reported on cognitive outcomes. The results demonstrated a small-to-moderate effect (Hedge's g=0.36; 95% CI=[0.25, 0.47]) on cognitive outcomes. Considering the specific impacts of EF and working memory on PM ability, it is important to consider these outcomes as well. Thirty-four effect sizes reported for EF and 14 effect sizes reported for working memory culminated in moderate, statistically significant effect sizes (Hedge's g=0.354 and 0.587, respectively). These subcategories reported the two largest effect sizes for chronic PA interventions, lending further credence to the idea that chronic PA could affect PM ability.

Ultimately, researchers have demonstrated that chronic PA is associated with improved cognition, specifically improving EF and working memory. These two variables have demonstrated specific relationships to PM ability, and as such, there is reason to believe that chronic PA could positively impact PM ability.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND PROSPECTIVE MEMORY

While there has been little research on the relationship between PA and PM in particular, emerging research has begun to investigate the potential of a relationship. At present, there are three studies examining the relationship between acute PA and PM and one review article to suggest a potential link between regular PA and PM (Frith et al., 2017; Cuttler et al., 2017; Loprinzi et al., 2018; Green & Loprinzi, 2018). At the present time, it has been demonstrated that performance decreases on PM tasks performed during a bout of aerobic PA but can be enhanced following an acute bout of resistance PA (Cuttler et al., 2017). The other studies of PM in the field were unable to find a relationship between PM and acute PA, though, notably, each suffered from methodological shortcomings that will be discussed in more detail later (Frith et al., 2017; Green & Loprinzi, 2018). To date, no study has been conducted examining the effects of chronic PA behaviors on PM. In a review, Loprinzi and colleagues (2018) make the argument that regular PA could affect PM through mood state and emotional memory. Unfortunately, no study has assessed the relationship between chronic PA and PM ability; thus far, researchers have only assessed acute PA in relation to PM ability.

The first study to examine this potential relationship was a randomized controlled trial (Frith et al., 2017). Frith and colleagues examined 88 young adults who were randomized into four groups: a control group and groups that performed PA before, during, or after learning. This experiment was conducted to examine the effects of the timing of acute PA on memory in young adults and PM was only a small portion of the study. The task used to examine PM was a time-based task where the participant was supposed to call the researcher 24 hours after the experiment. The scoring of this task was a simple success/failure determined by whether or not the participant called the researcher within 5 minutes of the agreed-upon time. This task reflects a real-world task as opposed to a lab-based task and allows subjects to use strategies to aid performance (e.g., prompts, alarms, notes). It does not consider event-based PM, and it has no assessment of validity or reliability. Frith and colleagues found no difference between groups in PM task success.

Cuttler and colleagues (2017) attempted to expand the PA and PM literature by examining the effects of acute aerobic and resistance PA on PM in 120 young adults. The PM tasks used in this study were the Reminder PM Test and the Red Pen PM Test, both of which assess event-based PM. The Reminder PM Test is considered a test of episodic PM because it only requires execution once. Specifically, participants are told to remind the researcher to send an email to their supervisor after they complete a later cognitive test. Alternatively, the Red Pen PM Test is considered a test of habitual PM because it requires execution multiple times throughout the testing session. Whenever a subsequent cognitive task requires the test subject to write or draw, they are supposed to request a red pen that is hidden in a drawer in between use. The instructions for these tasks were given to the subject early in the testing session, before any PA occurred.

Another PM task was performed during PA, known as the Viral Video PM Test (Cuttler et al., 2017). This task involved watching a viral video during the PA phase (or during seated rest for the control group) and saying the word "animal" whenever an animal appeared on screen. This is

also a test of event-based habitual PM, similar to the Red Pen PM Test, but assessed PM during PA.

It is important to take note of the PA bout used in this study (Cuttler et al., 2017). The goal of the bout was to elevate a participant's heart rate to 50-70% of their age-predicted maximum heart rate (HR_{max}; as determined by 220-age). If an individual's heart rate went above 70%, they were asked to slow down or rest until heart rate dropped again. While this was reported as a standard indication of moderate-intensity PA, this level of PA would likely be considered closer to light PA for many individuals in this sample. With an average age of 20 years old, the age-predicted HR_{max} would be 200 beats per minute (bpm). Fifty to seventy percent of this would be 100-140 bpm. The Center for Disease Control (CDC) now recommends 64-76% HR_{max} for moderate intensity PA, which would range from 128-152 bpm for a 20-year old (CDC, 2020). The researchers reported an average heart rate of 132.93 bpm in the aerobic group, falling into the CDC's suggested moderate range, but only a heart rate of 121.72 bpm in the resistance group, which is below the moderate range.

Results of the study demonstrated a detrimental effect of aerobic PA on the PM task performed during PA (i.e. the Viral Video PM Test) compared to the control group (p=0.02), but a similar effect was not found for resistance PA. The resistance PA group also displayed better performance on the episodic PM task (i.e. the Reminder PM Test) than either the control (p=0.04) or aerobic PA (p<0.01) group. No significant differences were found between groups on the habitual PM test performed after PA (i.e. the Red Pen PM Test).

Lastly, Green and Loprinzi (2018) explored the effects of 15 minutes of treadmill walking compared to 15 minutes of sitting on PM using the Royal Prince Alfred PM Test (RPA-ProMem test). This test assesses short- and long-term event- and time-based PM and has been found to be valid and reliable (Blondelle et al., 2020). The short-term tasks include the participant telling the researcher about their most recent meal 20 minutes after exercising (time-based) and the participant asking for a personal item back when an alarm goes off in the test room (event-based). The long-term tasks are performed outside of the lab and allow for the use of external cues and strategies (e.g. alarms, notifications, notes; Blondelle et al., 2020). These tasks include the participant calling the researcher when they arrive at home (event-based) and the participant

returning an envelope to the researcher's mailbox one week after the testing session (timebased). The scoring of the RPA-ProMem ranges from 0-12 as each task can be scored from 0-3 based on how correct and timely the task was completed. The results of this study demonstrated no effect of acute low-intensity PA on PM in 51 college students.

In summary, while a review from Loprinzi and colleagues (2018) was able to provide reasonable justification for a relationship between regular PA and PM, only one study has found any relationship between acute PA and PM, noting decreased PM performance during an acute bout of aerobic PA and increased PM performance following an acute bout of resistance PA (Cuttler et al., 2017). Two studies found no relationship between acute PA and PM ability. Frith and colleagues (2017) failed to find a relationship using a non-validated PM task scored in a binary fashion that likely lacked sensitivity. Green and Loprinzi (2018) used a 15-minute, low intensity PA bout that may have been insufficient to produce any changes. No study has explored self-reported PM in relation to acute or chronic PA, nor has any study explored objective PM ability in relation to chronic PA.

CHAPTER III: METHODS

Participants

Young adults aged 18-35 years old were recruited for this study. Participants were recruited from an undergraduate course at University of North Carolina at Greensboro (UNCG, i.e., KIN 388). Students were required to complete the survey for class but had to give consent for their answers to be used for research. Participants were not compensated for participation in this experiment. Ultimately, 104 students completed the study, and 96 gave permission for their data to be included in the study.

Design

The study design was a cross-sectional survey. Upon beginning the survey, participants were presented with an informed consent form detailing their involvement in the study and clarifying that participation in the study was on a voluntary basis and could be stopped at any time. Participants were then presented a questionnaire assessing demographic information (i.e., age, gender identity, ethnicity, race, year in school, major, sport participation status) before proceeding into the survey.

The survey used in the present study was created using Qualtrics software. The survey was presented online, which can provide a larger sample with more statistical power, more anonymity in responses leading to an increased willingness to admit to drug use, and increased disclosure with less influence from social desirability bias (Joinson et al., 1999).

Questionnaires

INTERNATIONAL PHYSICAL ACTIVITY QUESTIONNAIRE

Participants were asked to report their PA behavior using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ), a questionnaire created by an international group to assess the PA behaviors of adults aged 18-65 which has demonstrated strong reliability and validity in a 12country assessment (Craig et al., 2003). Specifically, the English short form was used, which includes 7 questions covering 4 domains: the time spent performing (1) vigorous and (2) moderate activity, (3) walking, and (4) sitting over the past 7 days. Data from the IPAQ was cleaned, assessed for outliers, and truncated according to standard protocol (Ara, 2005). Total scores were calculated continuously as MET*minutes per week (MET*min./wk.) and were divided categorically into Low (not meeting either of the other categories' criteria), Moderate (3 or more days of vigorous PA for at least 20 minutes per day, 5 or more days of moderate PA and/or walking for at least 30 minutes per day, or 5 or more days of PA combining to at least 600 MET-minutes per week), and High (vigorous PA at least 3 days per week and a total of at least 1500 MET-minutes per week or 7 days per week of any intensity PA with a total of at least 3000 MET-minutes per week) active categories for descriptive purposes based on the same standard protocol.

SUBSTANCE USE QUESTIONNAIRE

Alcohol and smoking behavior were assessed using modified questions from the 2021 Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance (YRBS) System (CDC, 2020). This questionnaire was created to assess health behaviors in US high-school students, is updated yearly by experts in the field, and suggested edits are only made if a majority of YRBS sites approve (CDC, 2020). The YRBS has demonstrated moderate to strong reliability in years past (Brener et al., 2002). For the current study, questions were taken from the following subsections of the survey: cigarette smoking, electronic vapor products (EVPs), other tobacco products, and drinking alcohol. Modifications were made to the questions such that they were appropriate for a young adult sample. Specifically, the answer choices for questions asking about the age at which a behavior was first performed were extended beyond '17 years old or older' to '21 years old or older.' In addition, questions pertaining to the means through which tobacco products and alcohol were obtained were omitted from the questionnaire. Lastly, a question was added that drew from the other drug questions of the YRBS System to assess other drug use. Questions pertaining to marijuana, synthetic marijuana, prescription medication misuse, cocaine, inhalants, heroin, methamphetamines, ecstasy, and illegal injectable drugs were combined into a single question with answer choices including 'yes,' 'no,' and 'prefer not to answer.'

Additional questions assessing the dose level of EVP use were asked that did not stem from the YRBS System. These included questions used to assess nicotine levels in EVPs (Hyland et al., 2017) and questions used to assess the frequency of EVP use on a given day (Weaver et al., 2017).

Participants were informed that none of their survey answers would be disclosed for any reason, that their names would not be matched to their survey responses, and that any question could be skipped if the participant felt uncomfortable providing an answer.

BECK DEPRESSION INVENTORY

Young adults with Major Depressive Disorder (MDD) display cognitive impairments when compared to young adults without MDD, particularly in the domain of EF (Castaneda, 2008). Further, depressive symptoms are a known risk factor for Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) and general cognitive decline (Barnes et al., 2006; Ganguli et al., 2006). As such, participants' depressive symptom severity was assessed using the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI). The BDI is a 21-item, self-report rating of depression (Beck et al., 1961). Internal consistency for the BDI is high, with alpha coefficients of 0.86 and 0.81 for psychiatric and non-psychiatric populations respectively (Beck et al., 1988). Each item is scored on a scale of 0-3 for a potential total of 63. BDI scores were categorized as Minimal (0-9), Mild (10-18), Moderate (19-29), and Severe (30-63) for descriptive purposes. Resources including the school psychology clinic were provided in case students wanted to speak with a professional regarding substance use or depression.

PROSPECTIVE-RETROSPECTIVE MEMORY QUESTIONNAIRE

Participants were asked to report PM and RM ability using the Prospective-Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ; Smith et al., 2000). The PRMQ is a 16 item self-report questionnaire with eight questions each assessing PM and RM ability. The PRMQ has demonstrated strong reliability for three subscales, with Chronbach's alpha coefficients of 0.89, 0.84, and 0.80 for a total memory scale, a PM subscale, and a RM subscale, respectively (Crawford et al., 2003). The PM and RM subscale both consist of 8 items scored 1-5 on a Likert scale, with higher scores representing stronger memory ability and less frequent memory errors.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 27. Independent variables included history of alcohol use (yes/no); days of alcohol consumption and days of binge drinking over the past 30 days; age at which alcohol consumption began; history of cigarette smoking (yes/no); age at which smoking began; history of EVP use (yes/no); days of EVP use, occasions per day of EVP use, and puffs per occasion of EVP use, all over the past 30 days; and self-reported PA levels. Dependent variables include subjective reports of PM ability and RM ability. Demographic variables including age, gender, ethnicity, race, year and major in school, body mass index (BMI), and depression levels were examined and, where necessary, were included as covariates. Other variables that were explored include other tobacco product use, other drug use, and sedentary time. While analyses were planned for days smoked and cigarettes per day over the past 30 days, only 4 participants reported having used a cigarette in the past 30 days, and thus these analyses were dropped.

Researchers confirmed that groups did not differ on any demographic information prior to conducting statistical analyses. Researchers conducted regression analyses to examine the impacts of alcohol use, EVP use, and PA on PRMQ scores. Models included PRMQ scores as the dependent variable and substance use (alcohol consumption, binge drinking, and EVP use), PA, and the interactions of PA and substance use variables as independent variables. It was expected that PA would interact with substance use behaviors such that greater variance would be explained by the models including PA than by those without PA. Unless otherwise noted, all results are considered with a significance level of α =0.05.

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Ninety-six individuals gave consent to be included in the analysis. Demographic characteristics of the sample are detailed in Table 1. The sample was made up of 43.8% males (n=42) and 56.3% females (n=54). No other gender identity was reported in the sample, though options included 'transman,' 'transwoman,' and 'other.' As such, it is probably safe to assume that gender identity is equivalent to biological sex in this sample. The sample was mostly junior and senior undergraduate students (35.4% and 49%; n=34 and 47, respectively). White and black racial categories were the most common (38.5% and 47.9%; n=37 and 46, respectively). Over 90% of the sample consisted of Kinesiology majors (n=91) and 71.9% of the sample was not participating in organized sport of any kind (n=69). Tests of demographic information and PRMQ scores were conducted and a significant correlation was observed for both PRMQ subscales with BDI total score. An independent samples t-test found a difference in PM subscale score based on gender identity (t(94)=2.155, p<0.05), but the same difference was not observed for RM subscale score (t(94)=0.937, p>0.05). No other demographic variables influenced scores on the PRMQ. As such, gender and BDI total score were included as covariates on further analyses of the PM subscale and BDI total score was included as a covariate on further analyses of the RM subscale where applicable.

		Ν	%			Ν	%
Gender	Man	42	43.8%	Year in	Freshman	4	4.2%
Identity	Woman	54	56.3%	School	Sophomore	11	11.5%
Spanish,	Yes	8	8.3%		Junior	34	35.4%
Hispanic, or	No	88	91.7%		Senior	47	49%
Latino Origin							
Race	White	37	38.5%	Major	Kinesiology	91	94.8%
	Black or African	46	47.9%		Other	5	5.2%
	American						
	American Indian	1	1%	Sport	Varsity	10	10.4%
	or Alaska Native			Participation	athlete		
	Asian	4	4.2%		Recreational athlete	17	17.7%

Table 1. Demographic Information

		Ν	%			Ν	%
Race (cont.)	Other	3	3.1%	Sport	No	69	71.9
				Participation	organized		
				(cont.)	sports		
	Missing	5	5.2%	BDI	Minimal	73	76%
				Category	Mild	15	15.6%
					Moderate	6	6.3%
					Severe	2	2.1%

Body Mass Index

Participants reported height in inches and weight in pounds. Height in inches was converted to height in meters (m) and weight in pounds was converted to weight in kilograms (kg). BMI was calculated as kg/m². The sample was categorized by BMI as underweight (less than 18.5 kg/m²), healthy weight (between 18.5 and 24.9 kg/m²), overweight (between 25 and 29.9 kg/m²), or obese (30 kg/m² or greater). Of the 92 participants who provided height and weight, 12.5% were classified as obese (n=12), 37.5% were overweight (n=36), and 44.8% were normal or healthy weight (n=43). BMI statistics can be found in Table 2.

Table 2. Body Mass Index Categories

	Ν	%
Underweight (<18.5 kg/m ²)	1	1%
Healthy Weight (18.5-24.9	43	44.8%
kg/m ²)		
Overweight (25.0-29.9	36	37.5%
kg/m ²)		
Obese (≥30.0 kg/m ²)	12	12.5%
Missing	4	4.2%

Physical Activity

In this sample, 76% of subjects were considered highly active by categories as determined by the IPAQ (n=73). Only 5.2% of participants were considered low active (n=5), with the moderate activity group making up the rest of the sample (18.8%; n=18). This means that the PA data had a low level of variance (σ^2 =0.314).

Table 3. IPAQ Categories

	Ν	%
Low	5	5.2%
Moderate	18	18.8%
High	73	76%

Substance Use

Substance use results are detailed in Appendix A. Independent samples T-tests confirmed that there was no difference in scores between those who had used other drugs and those who had not on either the PM subscale (t(94)=-0.629, p=0.531) or the RM subscale (t(94)=-0.7, p=0.486). As such, the use of other drugs was not included as a covariate on any further analyses.

For the purposes of this study, categorical variables of substance use were created (see Table 4) with a goal of creating categories that were meaningful (top priority) and had cell sizes that were as equal as possible. For alcohol consumption, the 'no alcohol' group consisted of those who had not consumed an alcoholic drink in the past 30 days, the 'light alcohol' group consisted of those who had consumed alcohol on 1 to 5 days of the past 30, and the 'regular alcohol' group consisted of time for drinking (defined as consuming 4 or more drinks or 5 or more drinks in a short period of time for women and men, respectively), the 'no binge' group included those who had not binge drunk in the past 30 days, the 'infrequent' group included those who had binge drunk just 1 or 2 days of the past 30, and the 'frequent' group included those who had binge drunk on 3 or more days of the past 30.

Behaviors involving the use of an electronic vapor product (EVP) were separated into 3 categories: no EVP, light EVP, and regular EVP. The number of EVP 'puffs' in the past 30 days was calculated by multiplying the number of days an EVP was used in the last 30, the number of occasions an EVP was used per day, and the number of puffs taken from the EVP per occasion. The number of puffs in the past 30 days was analyzed and broken into 3 groups, no EVP for those who had not used an EVP in the past 30 days (n=78), light EVP for those with a composite score below the median value of the remaining subjects (n=9), and regular EVP for those with a composite score above the median value (n=9).

		Ν	%
Alcohol Category	No alcohol	36	37.5%
	Light alcohol	41	42.7%
	Regular alcohol	19	19.8%
Binge Drinking	No binge	61	63.5%
Category	Infrequent	22	22.9%
	Frequent	13	13.5%
Smoked a cigarette	No	92	95.8%
in the past 30 days	Yes	4	4.2%
EVP Category	No EVP	78	81.3%
	Light EVP	9	9.4%
	Regular EVP	9	9.4%

Table 4. Substance Use Categorization

Hypothesis 1

The first hypothesis was that young adults with any history of drinking or smoking would have lower levels of PM than those who had never drunk or smoked. To assess the first hypothesis, a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) was performed comparing scores on the two PRMQ subscales based on whether a subject had ever drunk alcohol, smoked a cigarette, or used an EVP. There was no significant difference in PRMQ-PM scores based on whether a participant had drunk (F(1, 87)=0.018, p=0.895), smoked (F(1,87)=0.172, p=0.679), or used an EVP (F(1, 87)=0.061, p=0.805). Similarly, no difference was found for PRMQ-RM scores based on whether a participant had drunk (F(1, 87)=0.347, p=0.607, p=0.438), smoked (F(1, 87)=0.507, p=0.478), or used an EVP (F(1, 87)=0.347, p=0.558).

Hypothesis 2

The second hypothesis was that young adults who report excessive drinking or smoking would report lower levels of PM as compared to non-substance users and low-intensity users. To assess the second hypothesis, a MANCOVA was performed to assess differences in PRMQ scores for each substance use variable.

The PRMQ-PM scores were not different based on a participant's group for alcohol use (F(2,78)=0.694, p=0.503), binge drinking (F(2,78)=0.931, p=0.398), or EVP use (F(2, 78)=0.407, p=0.667). Similarly, no difference was found between groups for PRMQ-RM scores based on alcohol use (F(2, 78)=0.10, p=0.990), binge drinking (F(2,78)=0.2785, p=0.068), or EVP use (F(2, 78)=1.614, p=0.206).

Hypothesis 3

The third hypothesis was that young adults' PM ability would correlate positively with the age that substance use began. To assess the third hypothesis, correlations were assessed between both PRMQ subscales, the age of first drink, and the age of first cigarette, including only those participants who had reported having drunk or smoked in the past. The correlations can be seen in Table 3. Age of first drink (n=77) did not correlate significantly with the score on the PM subscale (r=0.026, p=0.824) or the score on the RM subscale (r=0.014, p=0.903). Age of first cigarette (n=28) did not correlate significantly, but showed a trend toward significance, with the score on the PM subscale (r=0.355, p=0.081; Figure 1) and the score on the RM subscale (r=0.361, p=0.059; Figure 2). The age of first cigarette demonstrated a weak positive relationship with scores on both the PM and RM subscale; as the age of first cigarette increased (onset occurred at an older age), so did scores on the PM and RM subscales.

		PRMQ-PM	PRMQ-RM
Age of first drink	Pearson Correlation	0.026	0.014
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.824	0.903
	Ν	77	77
Age of first cigarette	Pearson Correlation	0.335	0.361
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.081	0.059
	Ν	28	28

Table 5. Age Correlations



Figure 1. PM-Cigarette Age Correlation



Figure 2. RM-Cigarette Age Correlation

Hypothesis 4

The fourth hypothesis was that young adults with higher levels of PA would self-report better PM ability compared to young adults with lower levels of PA. A correlation was performed for each of the PRMQ scales and the continuous variable of PA measured as MET-minutes per week. As can be seen in Table 4, no significant correlations were found. Total PA (n=96) was not correlated with the PM subscale (r=-0.003, p=0.976) or the RM subscale (r=0.034, p=0.743).

Table 6. Physical Activity Correlations

		PRMQ-PM	PRMQ-RM
Total PA (MET-	Pearson Correlation	-0.003	0.034
minutes per week)	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.976	0.743
	Ν	96	96

Hypothesis 5

The fifth hypothesis was that levels of PA and substance use would interact to predict PM such that substance users with higher levels of PA would display better PM ability than substance users with lower levels of PA. To assess the fifth hypothesis, hierarchical regression analyses were performed for each of the three substance use variables (alcohol group, binge drinking category, and EVP category) with dependent variables including the scores of both PRMQ subscales. Models included:

- 1. BDI total score, gender identity (PM only)
- 2. Model 1 plus total PA (MET-minutes per week)
- 3. Model 2 plus substance use group
- 4. Model 3 plus total PA*substance use group

PROSPECTIVE-RETROSPECTIVE MEMORY QUESTIONNAIRE-PROSPECTIVE MEMORY SUBSCALE

The model summaries for all regressions using the dependent variable PRMQ-PM subscale are available in Table 5.

Models 1 and 2

In all substance use categories, Models 1 and 2 were the same. Model 1 (F(2, 93)=6.119, p<0.01) was significant, while Model 2 was not. Model 1 accounted for 11.6% of the variance in PM subscale scores, and BDI total score was the only significant predictor (β =-0.265, p<0.01). Model 1 can be seen in Figure 3. This relationship indicates that PM ability decreased as depressive symptom severity increased. Model 2's lack of significance shows no significant main effect of total PA on PRMQ-PM subscale scores.



Figure 3. BDI-PM Subscale Regression

Model 3

In each regression, substance use was entered in Model 3 to test for main effects. No substance use category had a significant R^2 change for Model 3.

Model 4

In each regression, the total PA*substance use group interaction was entered in Model 4. The results of the interaction varied depending on the type of substance.

Alcohol Group

Model 4 did not significantly change the R² of the regression when examining the total PA*alcohol group interaction.

Binge Drinking Category

When examining binge drinking, Model 4 (F(5, 90)=3.254, p=0.01), including BDI total score, gender identity, total PA (MET*min./wk.), binge drinking category, and the total PA*binge drinking interaction, revealed a trend towards significance (R^2_{change} =0.034, F_{change} (1, 90)=3.644, p=0.059). In this model, BDI total score was a significant predictor (β =-0.236, p<0.05) and the total PA*binge drinking interaction approached significance (β =-0.529, p=0.059). The interaction can be seen in Figure 4. This relationship indicates that non-binge drinkers experienced an increase in PM ability with greater levels of PA while both frequent and infrequent binge drinkers experienced a decrease in PM ability with greater levels of PA.



Figure 4. Total PA*Binge Drinking Interaction

EVP Category

Model 4 did not significantly change the R² of the regression when examining the total PA*EVP category interaction.

Model	R	R ²	Adj.	Std. Error of Change Statistics					
			R ²	the Estimate					
					R ²	F	<i>df</i> 1	<i>df</i> 2	Sig. F
					change	change			change
1	0.341	0.116	0.097	5.714	0.116	6.119	2	93	0.003
2	0.343	0.118	0.089	5.740	0.001	0.148	1	92	0.701
3-alc	0.359	0.129	0.091	5.734	0.011	1.191	1	91	0.278
4-alc	0.359	0.129	0.081	5.766	0	0.014	1	90	0.907
3-binge	0.345	0.119	0.080	5.768	0.001	0.113	1	91	0.738
4-binge	0.391	0.153	0.106	5.686	0.034	3.644	1	90	0.059
3-EVP	0.345	0.119	0.080	5.768	0.001	0.119	1	91	0.731
4-EVP	0.348	0.121	0.072	5.792	0.002	0.222	1	90	0.639

Table 7. PRMQ-PM Subscale Regression Model Summaries

PROSPECTIVE-RETROSPECTIVE MEMORY QUESTIONNAIRE-RETROSPECTIVE MEMORY SUBSCALE

The model summaries for all regressions using the dependent variable PRMQ-RM subscale are available in Table 6.

Models 1 and 2

In all substance use categories, Models 1 and 2 were the same. Model 1 (F(2, 93)=5.494, p<0.01) was significant, while Model 2 was not. Model 1 accounted for 10.3% of the variance in RM subscale scores, and BDI total score was a significant predictor (β =-0.321, p<0.01; see Figure 5). This relationship indicates that RM ability decreased as depressive symptom severity increased. Model 2's lack of significance shows no significant main effect of total PA on PRMQ-RM subscale scores.



Figure 5. BDI-RM Subscale Regression

Models 3 and 4

In each regression, substance use was entered in Model 3 to test for main effects. No substance use variable's main effect resulted in a significant change in R². In each regression, the total PA*substance use group interaction was entered in Model 4. The results of the interaction were not significant for any of the substance use variables.

Model	R	R ²	Adj.	Std. Error ofChange Statistics					
			\mathbf{R}^2	the Estimate					
					R ²	F	<i>df</i> 1	<i>df</i> 2	Sig. F
					change	change			change
1	0.321	0.103	0.093	5.474	0.103	10.762	1	94	0.001
2	0.325	0.106	0.086	5.494	0.003	0.307	1	93	0.581
3-alc	0.331	0.109	0.080	5.512	0.004	0.382	1	92	0.538
4-alc	0.348	0.121	0.083	5.505	0.012	1.245	1	91	0.267
3-binge	0.335	0.113	0.084	5.503	0.007	0.710	1	92	0.402
4-binge	0.337	0.114	0.075	5.528	0.001	0.140	1	91	0.709
3-EVP	0.328	0.107	0.078	5.518	0.002	0.179	1	92	0.673
4-EVP	0.337	0.114	0.075	5.529	0.006	0.629	1	91	0.430

Table 8. PRMQ-RM Subscale Regression Model Summaries

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationships of PA and substance use to PM ability. There is evidence to demonstrate impaired PM ability in heavy substance users (Heffernan et al., 2002; Heffernan et al., 2004; Heffernan et al., 2005; Heffernan, 2008; Heffernan, Clark, et al., 2010; Heffernan, Moss, and O'Neill, 2010; Heffernan & O'Neill, 2012; Ling et al., 2003; Ling et al., 2010). Notably, these groups with impaired PM do not use strategies to compensate for their faltering memory. Considering this, it may prove essential to determine other ways to preserve or otherwise enhance PM in heavy substance users. There is reason to believe that chronic PA could help to alleviate impaired PM ability in heavy substance users (for review, see Loprinzi et al., 2018).

The present study employed online questionnaires to assess PA levels, substance use behaviors, and subjective PM ability. Ninety-six undergraduate students provided sufficient data for analysis. Statistical methods including MANCOVA and hierarchical regression were used to compare self-reported PM ability between substance use and PA groups and to assess the interactions of PA and substance use behaviors on PM ability.

In the sample of 96 undergraduate students, only 5 were majors other than Kinesiology. This means that 94.8% of the sample was studying Kinesiology. Further, 12.5% of the sample was obese, compared to normal rates of about 40% in US adults aged 20 to 39 years (CDC, 2021). Variance in reported substance use behavior was low, meaning that substance use had to be broken into larger, broader categories. A surprisingly small number of participants had smoked cigarettes in the past 30 days, most of the participants that reported drinking drank infrequently, and while EVP use was more common (almost 20% of participants reported using an EVP in the past 30 days), most participants who reported EVP use selected that they did so only on occasion. PA variances were similarly low; the sample was, by majority, highly active (76%). This proportion is higher than, but may not be far off from, the population average. Bauman and colleagues (2009) found that 62% of about 4,500 US adults aged 18-65 reported being highly active by IPAQ standards.

No difference was found for PRMQ scores based on alcohol use, binge drinking, or EVP use. The reported age of a participant's first drink did not correlate with self-reported PM ability. In addition, no relationship was found between PRMQ scores and total PA. There was an observed trend toward significance, however, for the correlation of the reported age of a participant's first cigarette and self-reported PM ability. Results demonstrate that PM ability increases as the age of first cigarette increases. The brain is more plastic in adolescence (Fuhrmann et al., 2015), and thus it stands to reason that negative lifestyle choices earlier in life would influence the brain more dramatically. There is evidence to demonstrate that the adolescent brain is impacted differently by nicotine than adults, and that aberrant activation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) in adolescence may cause lasting changes in neuronal signaling that could impact cognition (Yuan et al., 2015). As such, the brain development of an individual who smokes a cigarette at a younger age could be more impacted than an individual who smokes at an older age. Additionally, an individual who starts smoking at an earlier age could have become more reliant on nicotine when compared to an individual who started smoking at a later age. This would mean that the effects of nicotine abstinence would be more noticeable for an individual who started smoking at an earlier age. Nicotine abstinence is known to cause impaired EF, and considering the relationship between EF and PM, the effects of abstinence would likely cause decreased PM performance. The results provide further evidence of the benefits of delaying age of onset for negative health behaviors as much as possible.

The hierarchical regression revealed that BDI score was a significant predictor of scores on the PRMQ, such that higher scores on the BDI were related to lower scores on the PRMQ; interestingly, lower scores on the PRMQ represent weaker memory ability and more frequent memory errors. This means that stronger depressive symptomology as reported on the BDI was related to impaired memory ability. This is in line with previous research in young adults, which has demonstrated impaired cognitive ability in those with depression (Castaneda et al., 2008).

On the PM subscale, no main effects from PA or from any substance use variable were observed. Previous findings on the relationship between self-reported PM ability and substance use demonstrate a consistent detriment in PM ability for alcohol and cigarette users. This contradiction could likely be explained by the low power of this study (due to low variance in PA and substance use behavior variables) to detect changes in self-reported PM ability.

Alternatively, PA's interaction with binge drinking helped to predict scores on the PM subscale. While the interaction was not significant, it showed a trend toward significance such that binge drinkers with higher levels of PA reported more frequent PM errors than binge drinkers with lower levels of PA. The same trend was not observed for non-substance users. The significant interaction of PA and binge drinking on the PM subscale demonstrates that higher levels of PA are associated with higher self-reported PM ability for non-binge drinkers; alternatively, higher levels of PA are associated with lower self-report PM ability in binge drinkers. The interaction provides evidence that the positive relationship between PA and PM ability may not be observed if an individual also performs binge drinking behaviors. More physically active binge drinkers had worse PM ability than less physically active binge drinkers. Speculatively, this could relate to the nature of PA and binge drinking behaviors. Einstein and colleagues (2005) demonstrated that PM ability can be improved or impaired depending on the nature of other ongoing tasks and the focal status of the PM task. Both binge drinking and PA are behaviors that take time to perform; the time spent on these ongoing behaviors could be replacing intended actions that are thusly not performed. There could also be a relation to the focal status of the PM task. Individuals who perform binge drinking behaviors and PA may be devoting cognitive resources to these behaviors and may not have cognitive resources available to focus on the PM task. The interaction effect was nonsignificant for alcohol consumption in the past 30 days and for EVP use in the past 30 days. This could also be due to low levels of variability in substance use and PA behaviors. Alternatively, PA may not influence the relationship between PM subscale scores and alcohol drinking or EVP behavior in any noteworthy way.

On the other hand, no substance use variable was significantly related to scores on the RM subscale. This may be due to the specific effect of substance use on EF. PM is more reliant on EF than RM is, and substance use behaviors are known to specifically relate to EF in young adults (Mendrek et al., 2006; Glass et al., 2008).

The results largely contradict what would be expected based on the cognitive reserve (CR) hypothesis. The CR hypothesis (Stern, 2002, 2009) states that every individual has a cognitive reserve fueled by lifestyle factors such as substance use and PA. Based on the CR hypothesis, substance use would be expected to decrease an individual's reserve; evidence demonstrates that excess alcohol use can cause brain shrinkage (Kril & Halliday, 2004) and cigarette smoking can

result in brain atrophy and biological and structural abnormalities in the brain (Durazzo et al., 2010). PA would be expected to increase reserve as it can help to preserve brain size (Benedict et al., 2013), stimulate hippocampal neurogenesis (Brown et al., 2003), and preserve neuronal structural integrity (Cheng, 2016). As such, based on the CR hypothesis, it was expected that the decreased reserve related to substance use could be compensated by the increased reserve of PA. If this were the case, low active substance users would have the least reserve and, in turn, the worst cognitive ability (i.e., memory). This would be followed by high active substance users and low active non-substance users, who would have moderate reserve and ability, and high active non-substance users would have the most reserve and, in turn, the strongest cognitive ability. The results of the study did not match this expectation; however, the observed interaction between PA and binge drinking could be explained in part by the CR hypothesis. It is possible that the expected increase in reserve from PA behaviors is overshadowed by the decrease in reserve associated with binge drinking. Alternatively, binge drinking could serve as a blocking mechanism for the increased reserve benefit associated with PA.

Based on the findings of the present study, PA may have some potential to interact with substance use to influence an individual's memory ability. When an individual reported binge drinking, they did not experience the positive relationship between PA and PM ability that was observed in non-binge drinkers. From a practical perspective, these results provide evidence that binge drinking behaviors can limit the positive impacts of PA on PM ability. Educating binge drinkers on this impact could help to encourage positive behavior change through cessation of binge drinking. On the other hand, the results could help explain why some people choose not to perform PA. An individual who sees no benefit from PA (such as a binge drinker) may see no reason to continue the behavior. From the other perspective, the results of the study could be used to educate those who are currently physically active to help prevent the onset of negative health behaviors such as binge drinking.

Limitations

The present study was not without limitations. Notably, the sample was largely homogenous. Substance use and PA behaviors all had low levels of variability; this may be attributed to the large majority (94.8%) of the sample consisting of Kinesiology majors who may be committed to more healthy lifestyles than students in other majors. In fact, evidence suggests that Kinesiology majors are more likely to engage in healthy behaviors such as PA (Many et al., 2016). In addition, self-report questionnaires were used to assess memory ability; the memory paradox represents the idea that an individual with a poor memory is more likely to forget the frequency of their memory errors. This would lead to an under-reporting effect for memory errors; however, if memory errors are under-reported, this would be more likely to take away from potential significance, rather than adding to it. The study also relied on self-report questionnaires for substance use behaviors. Considering the health science nature of the class, the small number of individuals who would not be legally allowed to engage in the behaviors (i.e., younger than 21 years old), and the peer pressure of taking the survey for a class, substance use behaviors could be biased in any number of ways (peer pressure, trying to say what the researcher is expecting, etc.). In order to mitigate any potential effect, participants were reminded that the research was confidential, results would be de-identified, that researchers were not required to report illegal behavior, and that their survey responses would have no impact on their standing. Lastly, selfreport of PA, especially in a class discussing the benefits of PA, could result in inaccurate answers. However, Joinson and colleagues (1999) noted that online questionnaires, like those employed in the present study, result in more open answers and more disclosure with less influence from social desirability bias when compared to paper-and-pencil questionnaires.

Recommendations for Future Research

Given the low levels of variability and the homogenous nature of the sample, the next step for research would be to expand upon the sample. Including undergraduates from other majors that are less focused on health and the effects of lifestyle could be a potential first step, as this may result in higher levels of variability and greater power to detect differences in PM ability. Further, examining young adults from other universities, non-students in other professions, different cultures, different socioeconomic statuses, and with various diseases and conditions would help to replicate the findings of the current study and improve the generalizability of the results and the practical recommendations that stem from them. In addition, future research could include objective tasks of PM to compare to self-report scores. Ultimately, longitudinal

examination of lifestyle behaviors including PA and substance use and their effects on PM could provide strong evidence for PA's protective effect against substance use.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this study provides the first evidence for a potential interaction between PA and substance use behaviors on the PM ability of substance users. Despite a largely homogenous sample and low levels of variability on assessed behavioral variables, PA interacted with cigarette smoking and binge drinking to help explain scores on the PM subscale of the PRMQ. A main effect was also observed as cigarette smoking helped to explain variance in scores on the RM subscale of the PRMQ.

REFERENCES

- Agartz, Ingrid, Reza Momenan, Robert R Rawlings, Michael J Kerich, and Daniel W Hommer. "Hippocampal Volume in Patients with Alcohol Dependence." Archives of General Psychiatry 56, no. 4 (1999): 356–63.
- Ambrose, Margaret L, Stephen C Bowden, and Greg Whelan. "Working Memory Impairments in Alcohol□dependent Participants without Clinical Amnesia." Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 25, no. 2 (2001): 185–91.
- Anstey, Kaarin J, Holly A Mack, and Nicolas Cherbuin. "Alcohol Consumption as a Risk Factor for Dementia and Cognitive Decline: Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies." The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 17, no. 7 (2009): 542–55.
- Bartholomew, Janice, Steve Holroyd, and Thomas M Heffernan. "Does Cannabis Use Affect Prospective Memory in Young Adults?" Journal of Psychopharmacology 24, no. 2 (2010): 241–46.
- Bartsch, Andreas J, György Homola, Armin Biller, Stephen M Smith, Heinz-Gerd Weijers, Gerhard A Wiesbeck, Mark Jenkinson, Nicola De Stefano, László Solymosi, and Martin Bendszus. "Manifestations of Early Brain Recovery Associated with Abstinence from Alcoholism." Brain 130, no. 1 (2007): 36–47.
- Bauman, Adrian, Fiona Bull, Tien Chey, Cora L. Craig, Barbara E. Ainsworth, James F. Sallis, Heather R. Bowles, et al. "The International Prevalence Study on Physical Activity: Results from 20 Countries." International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 6, no. 1 (March 31, 2009): 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-6-21.
- Bechara, Antoine, Sara Dolan, Natalie Denburg, Andrea Hindes, Steven W Anderson, and Peter E Nathan. "Decision-Making Deficits, Linked to a Dysfunctional Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex, Revealed in Alcohol and Stimulant Abusers." Neuropsychologia 39, no. 4 (2001): 376–89.
- Beck, Stefanie M, Hannes Ruge, Moritz Walser, and Thomas Goschke. "The Functional Neuroanatomy of Spontaneous Retrieval and Strategic Monitoring of Delayed Intentions." Neuropsychologia 52 (2014): 37–50.
- Benedict, Christian, Samantha J Brooks, Joel Kullberg, Richard Nordenskjöld, Jonathan Burgos, Madeleine Le Grevès, Lena Kilander, Elna-Marie Larsson, Lars Johansson, and Håkan Ahlström. "Association between Physical Activity and Brain Health in Older Adults." Neurobiology of Aging 34, no. 1 (2013): 83–90.
- Blondelle, Geoffrey, Mathieu Hainselin, Yannick Gounden, and Véronique Quaglino. "Instruments Measuring Prospective Memory: A Systematic and Meta-Analytic Review." Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology, 2020.

- Breslau, Naomi, M Marlyne Kilbey, and Patricia Andreski. "Nicotine Withdrawal Symptoms and Psychiatric Disorders: Findings from an Epidemiologic Study of Young Adults." The American Journal of Psychiatry, 1992.
- Brown, Jason, Christiana M Cooper□Kuhn, Gerd Kempermann, Henriette Van Praag, Jürgen Winkler, Fred H Gage, and H Georg Kuhn. "Enriched Environment and Physical Activity Stimulate Hippocampal but Not Olfactory Bulb Neurogenesis." European Journal of Neuroscience 17, no. 10 (2003): 2042–46.
- Buchanan, Tom. "Potential of the Internet for Personality Research." In Psychological Experiments on the Internet, 121–40. Elsevier, 2000.
- Buchanan, Tom, Tarick Ali, Thomas M Heffernan, Jonathan Ling, Andrew C Parrott, Jacqui Rodgers, and Andrew B Scholey. "Nonequivalence of On-Line and Paper-and-Pencil Psychological Tests: The Case of the Prospective Memory Questionnaire." Behavior Research Methods 37, no. 1 (2005): 148–54.
- Bugg, Julie M, and Denise Head. "Exercise Moderates Age-Related Atrophy of the Medial Temporal Lobe." Neurobiology of Aging 32, no. 3 (2011): 506–14.
- Burgess, Paul W, Nick Alderman, Jon Evans, Hazel Emslie, and B Wilson. "The Ecological Validity of Tests of Executive Function." Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society 4, no. 6 (1998): 547–58.
- Burgess, Paul W, Angela Quayle, and Christopher D Frith. "Brain Regions Involved in Prospective Memory as Determined by Positron Emission Tomography." Neuropsychologia 39, no. 6 (2001): 545–55.
- Castaneda, Anu E., Annamari Tuulio-Henriksson, Mauri Marttunen, Jaana Suvisaari, and Jouko Lönnqvist. "A Review on Cognitive Impairments in Depressive and Anxiety Disorders with a Focus on Young Adults." Journal of Affective Disorders 106, no. 1 (February 1, 2008): 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2007.06.006.
- CDC. "Obesity Is a Common, Serious, and Costly Disease." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, February 11, 2021. https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html.
- CDCTobaccoFree. "Fast Facts." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, May 21, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/tobacco/data_statistics/fact_sheets/fast_facts/index.htm.
- Cheng, Sheung-Tak. "Cognitive Reserve and the Prevention of Dementia: The Role of Physical and Cognitive Activities." Current Psychiatry Reports 18, no. 9 (2016): 85.
- Conti, A. A., L. McLean, S. Tolomeo, J. D. Steele, and A. Baldacchino. "Chronic Tobacco Smoking and Neuropsychological Impairments: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 96 (January 1, 2019): 143–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.11.017.

- Craik, Fergus IM, F Klix, and H Hagendorf. A Functional Account of Age Differences in Memory, 1986.
- Crawford, John R., Julie D. Henry, Aileen L. Ward, and John Blake. "The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ): Latent Structure, Normative Data and Discrepancy Analysis for Proxy-Ratings." British Journal of Clinical Psychology 45, no. 1 (March 2006): 83–104. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466505X28748.
- Crawford, John, Geoff Smith, Elizabeth Maylor, Sergio Della Sala, and Robert Logie. "The Prospective and Retrospective Memory Questionnaire (PRMQ): Normative Data and Latent Structure in a Large Non-Clinical Sample." Memory 11, no. 3 (2003): 261–75.
- Crews, Fulton Timm, and Charlotte Ann Boettiger. "Impulsivity, Frontal Lobes and Risk for Addiction." Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, Impulsivity and Frontal Lobes: Roles in Psychopathology and Addiction, 93, no. 3 (September 1, 2009): 237–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2009.04.018.
- Crovitz, Herbert F, and Walter F Daniel. "Measurements of Everyday Memory: Toward the Prevention of Forgetting." Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society 22, no. 5 (1984): 413–14.
- Cuttler, Carrie, Christopher P Connolly, Emily M LaFrance, and Tanner M Lowry. "Resist Forgetting: Effects of Aerobic and Resistance Exercise on Prospective and Retrospective Memory." Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology 7, no. 2 (2018): 205.
- "Data on Excessive Drinking | CDC," September 3, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/alcohol/datastats.htm.
- Dawkins, Lynne, John Turner, and Eadaoin Crowe. "Nicotine Derived from the Electronic Cigarette Improves Time-Based Prospective Memory in Abstinent Smokers." Psychopharmacology 227, no. 3 (2013): 377–84.
- Dobbs, Allen R, and M Barbara Reeves. "Prospective Memory: More than Memory." Prospective Memory: Theory and Applications, 1996, 199–225.
- Donnelly, Joseph E, Charles H Hillman, Darla Castelli, Jennifer L Etnier, Sarah Lee, Phillip Tomporowski, Kate Lambourne, and Amanda N Szabo-Reed. "Physical Activity, Fitness, Cognitive Function, and Academic Achievement in Children: A Systematic Review." Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 48, no. 6 (2016): 1197.
- Drinkaware. "What Is an Alcohol Unit? | Drinkaware." Accessed April 27, 2021. https://www.drinkaware.co.uk/facts/alcoholic-drinks-and-units/what-is-an-alcohol-unit.
- Durazzo, Timothy C, Dieter J Meyerhoff, and Sara Jo Nixon. "Chronic Cigarette Smoking: Implications for Neurocognition and Brain Neurobiology." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 7, no. 10 (2010): 3760–91.
- Einstein, Gilles O, Mark A McDaniel, Sarah L Richardson, Melissa J Guynn, and Allison R Cunfer. "Aging and Prospective Memory: Examining the Influences of Self-Initiated

Retrieval Processes." Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 21, no. 4 (1995): 996.

- Einstein, Gilles O, Mark A McDaniel, Ruthann Thomas, Sara Mayfield, Hilary Shank, Nova Morrisette, and Jennifer Breneiser. "Multiple Processes in Prospective Memory Retrieval: Factors Determining Monitoring versus Spontaneous Retrieval." Journal of Experimental Psychology: General 134, no. 3 (2005): 327.
- Ellis, J, M Brandimonte, GO Einstein, and MA McDaniel. "Prospective Memory: Theory and Applications." Prospective Memory or the Realization of Delayed Intentions: A Conceptual Framework for Research. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum, 1996.
- Erickson, Kirk I, Michelle W Voss, Ruchika Shaurya Prakash, Chandramallika Basak, Amanda Szabo, Laura Chaddock, Jennifer S Kim, Susie Heo, Heloisa Alves, and Siobhan M White. "Exercise Training Increases Size of Hippocampus and Improves Memory." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108, no. 7 (2011): 3017–22.
- Etnier, Jennifer L, Priscilla M Nowell, Daniel M Landers, and Benjamin A Sibley. "A Meta-Regression to Examine the Relationship between Aerobic Fitness and Cognitive Performance." Brain Research Reviews 52, no. 1 (2006): 119–30.
- Etnier, Jennifer L, Walter Salazar, Daniel M Landers, Steven J Petruzzello, Myungwoo Han, and Priscilla Nowell. "The Influence of Physical Fitness and Exercise upon Cognitive Functioning: A Meta-Analysis." Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology 19, no. 3 (1997): 249–77.
- Frith, Emily, Eveleen Sng, and Paul D Loprinzi. "Randomized Controlled Trial Evaluating the Temporal Effects of High□intensity Exercise on Learning, Short□term and Long□term Memory, and Prospective Memory." European Journal of Neuroscience 46, no. 10 (2017): 2557–64.
- Fuhrmann, Delia, Lisa J. Knoll, and Sarah-Jayne Blakemore. "Adolescence as a Sensitive Period of Brain Development." Trends in Cognitive Sciences 19, no. 10 (October 1, 2015): 558–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.07.008.
- Ganguli, M.; Du, Y.; Dodge, H. (2006) "Depressive Symptoms and Cognitive Decline in Late Life: A Prospective Epidemiological Study | Dementia and Cognitive Impairment | JAMA Psychiatry | JAMA Network." Accessed April 11, 2021. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapsychiatry/fullarticle/209343.
- García-Moreno, LM, NM Conejo, HG Pardo, M Gomez, FR Martín, MJ Alonso, and JL Arias. "Hippocampal AgNOR Activity after Chronic Alcohol Consumption and Alcohol Deprivation in Rats." Physiology & Behavior 72, no. 1–2 (2001): 115–21.
- Glass, Jennifer M, Anne Buu, Kenneth M Adams, Joel T Nigg, Leon I Puttler, Jennifer M Jester, and Robert A Zucker. "Effects of Alcoholism Severity and Smoking on Executive Neurocognitive Function." Addiction 104, no. 1 (2009): 38–48.

- Gordon, Brian A, Jill T Shelton, Julie M Bugg, Mark A McDaniel, and Denise Head. "Structural Correlates of Prospective Memory." Neuropsychologia 49, no. 14 (2011): 3795–3800.
- Grant, Igor. "Alcohol and the Brain: Neuropsychological Correlates." Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 55, no. 3 (1987): 310.
- Green, David, and Paul D Loprinzi. "Experimental Effects of Acute Exercise on Prospective Memory and False Memory." Psychological Reports 122, no. 4 (2019): 1313–26.
- Griffin, Éadaoin W, Sinéad Mullally, Carole Foley, Stuart A Warmington, Shane M O'Mara, and Áine M Kelly. "Aerobic Exercise Improves Hippocampal Function and Increases BDNF in the Serum of Young Adult Males." Physiology & Behavior 104, no. 5 (2011): 934–41.
- Guiney, Hayley, and Liana Machado. "Benefits of Regular Aerobic Exercise for Executive Functioning in Healthy Populations." Psychonomic Bulletin & Review 20, no. 1 (2013): 73– 86.
- Hall, Sharon M, Ricardo F Muñoz, Victor I Reus, and Karen L Sees. "Nicotine, Negative Affect, and Depression." Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 61, no. 5 (1993): 761.
- Hannon, Roseann, Peter Adams, Scott Harrington, Caroline Fries-Dias, and Martin T Gipson. "Effects of Brain Injury and Age on Prospective Memory Self-Rating and Performance." Rehabilitation Psychology 40, no. 4 (1995): 289.
- Haverkamp, Barbara Franca, Rikstje Wiersma, Karen Vertessen, Hanneke van Ewijk, Jaap Oosterlaan, and Esther Hartman. "Effects of Physical Activity Interventions on Cognitive Outcomes and Academic Performance in Adolescents and Young Adults: A Meta-Analysis." Journal of Sports Sciences, August 12, 2020, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2020.1794763.
- Heffernan, T., R. Clark, J. Bartholomew, J. Ling, and S. Stephens. "Does Binge Drinking in Teenagers Affect Their Everyday Prospective Memory?" Drug and Alcohol Dependence 109, no. 1 (June 1, 2010): 73–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.12.013.
- Heffernan, Thomas, Jonathon Ling, and Janice Bartholomew. "Self-Rated Prospective Memory and Central Executive Deficits in Excessive Alcohol Users." Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine 21, no. 4 (2004): 122–24.
- Heffernan, Thomas M. "The Impact of Excessive Alcohol Use on Prospective Memory: A Brief Review." Current Drug Abuse Reviews 1, no. 1 (2008): 36–41.
- Heffernan, Thomas M, H Jarvis, Jacqui Rodgers, AB Scholey, and Jonathan Ling. "Prospective Memory, Everyday Cognitive Failure and Central Executive Function in Recreational Users of Ecstasy." Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental 16, no. 8 (2001): 607– 12.
- Heffernan, Thomas M, Jonathan Ling, Andrew C Parrott, Tom Buchanan, Andrew B Scholey, and Jacqui Rodgers. "Self-Rated Everyday and Prospective Memory Abilities of Cigarette

Smokers and Non-Smokers: A Web-Based Study." Drug and Alcohol Dependence 78, no. 3 (2005): 235–41.

- Heffernan, Thomas M, Jonathon Ling, and Andrew B Scholey. "Subjective Ratings of Prospective Memory Deficits in MDMA ('Ecstasy') Users." Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental 16, no. 4 (2001): 339–44.
- Heffernan, Thomas M, Mark Moss, and Jonathon Ling. "Subjective Ratings of Prospective Memory Deficits in Chronic Heavy Alcohol Users." Alcohol and Alcoholism 37, no. 3 (2002): 269–71.
- Heffernan, Thomas, and Terence O'Neill. "Time Based Prospective Memory Deficits Associated with Binge Drinking: Evidence from the Cambridge Prospective Memory Test (CAMPROMPT)." Drug and Alcohol Dependence 123, no. 1–3 (2012): 207–12.
- Heffernan, Thomas, Terence O'Neill, and Mark Moss. "Smoking and Everyday Prospective Memory: A Comparison of Self-Report and Objective Methodologies." Drug and Alcohol Dependence 112, no. 3 (2010): 234–38.
- Hendriks, MPH, AP Aldenkamp, H Van der Vlugt, WCJ Alpherts, and J Vermeulen. "Memory Complaints in Medically Refractory Epilepsy: Relationship to Epilepsy-Related Factors." Epilepsy & Behavior 3, no. 2 (2002): 165–72.
- Hillman, Charles H, Keita Kamijo, and Matthew B Pontifex. "The Relation of ERP Indices of Exercise to Brain Health and Cognition." In Functional Neuroimaging in Exercise and Sport Sciences, 419–46. Springer, 2012.
- Hunter, AJ. "Serotonergic Involvement in Learning and Memory," 1989.
- Hyland, Andrew, Bridget K Ambrose, Kevin P Conway, Nicolette Borek, Elizabeth Lambert, Charles Carusi, Kristie Taylor, Scott Crosse, Geoffrey T Fong, and K Michael Cummings. "Design and Methods of the Population Assessment of Tobacco and Health (PATH) Study." Tobacco Control 26, no. 4 (2017): 371–78.
- Jacobus, Joanna, and Susan F. Tapert. "Neurotoxic Effects of Alcohol in Adolescence." Annual Review of Clinical Psychology 9, no. 1 (2013): 703–21. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevclinpsy-050212-185610.
- Jha, Prabhat, Chinthanie Ramasundarahettige, Victoria Landsman, Brian Rostron, Michael Thun, Robert N Anderson, Tim McAfee, and Richard Peto. "21st-Century Hazards of Smoking and Benefits of Cessation in the United States." New England Journal of Medicine 368, no. 4 (2013): 341–50.
- Joinson, Adam N. "Anonymity, Disinhibition and Social Desirability on the Internet." Behaviour Research Methods, Instruments and Computers 31, no. 3 (1999): 433–38.
- Julian, Laura J. "Measures of Anxiety." Arthritis Care & Research 63, no. 0 11 (November 2011). https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.20561.

- Kliegel, Matthias, Theodor Jäger, and Louise H Phillips. "Adult Age Differences in Event-Based Prospective Memory: A Meta-Analysis on the Role of Focal versus Nonfocal Cues." Psychology and Aging 23, no. 1 (2008): 203.
- Kliegel, Matthias, and Mike Martin. "Prospective Memory Research: Why Is It Relevant?" International Journal of Psychology 38, no. 4 (2003): 193–94.
- Kliegel, Matthias, Mike Martin, Mark A McDaniel, and Gilles O Einstein. "Complex Prospective Memory and Executive Control of Working Memory: A Process Model." Psychological Test and Assessment Modeling 44, no. 2 (2002): 303.
- Kril, Jillian J, and Glenda M Halliday. "Brain Shrinkage in Alcoholics: A Decade on and What Have We Learned?" Progress in Neurobiology 58, no. 4 (1999): 381–87.
- Leber, Wiliam R, Robert L Jenkins, and Oscar A Parsons. "Recovery of Visual □ spatial Learning and Memory in Chronic Alcoholics." Journal of Clinical Psychology 37, no. 1 (1981): 192–97.
- Levin, Edward D, F Joseph McClernon, and Amir H Rezvani. "Nicotinic Effects on Cognitive Function: Behavioral Characterization, Pharmacological Specification, and Anatomic Localization." Psychopharmacology 184, no. 3–4 (2006): 523–39.
- Levy, David T, Kenneth E Warner, K Michael Cummings, David Hammond, Charlene Kuo, Geoffrey T Fong, James F Thrasher, Maciej Lukasz Goniewicz, and Ron Borland.
 "Examining the Relationship of Vaping to Smoking Initiation among US Youth and Young Adults: A Reality Check." Tobacco Control 28, no. 6 (2019): 629–35.
- Ling, Jonathan, Thomas M Heffernan, Tom Buchanan, Jacqui Rodgers, Andrew B Scholey, and Andrew C Parrott. "Effects of Alcohol on Subjective Ratings of Prospective and Everyday Memory Deficits." Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 27, no. 6 (2003): 970– 74.
- Ling, Jonathan, Thomas M Heffernan, Kathryn Luczakiewicz, and Richard Stephens. "Subjective Ratings of Prospective Memory Deficits in Chronic Alcohol Users." Psychological Reports 106, no. 3 (2010): 905–17.
- Loprinzi, Paul D, Meghan K Edwards, and Emily Frith. "Exercise and Prospective Memory." Journal of Lifestyle Medicine 8, no. 2 (2018): 51.
- Loprinzi, Paul D, Emily Frith, Meghan K Edwards, Eveleen Sng, and Nicole Ashpole. "The Effects of Exercise on Memory Function among Young to Middle-Aged Adults: Systematic Review and Recommendations for Future Research." American Journal of Health Promotion 32, no. 3 (2018): 691–704.
- Magnusson, K. R., and B. L. Brim. "The Aging Brain." In Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. Elsevier, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.00158-6.

- Marsh, Richard L, and Jason L Hicks. "Event-Based Prospective Memory and Executive Control of Working Memory." Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, and Cognition 24, no. 2 (1998): 336.
- McDaniel, Mark A, and Gilles O Einstein. "Strategic and Automatic Processes in Prospective Memory Retrieval: A Multiprocess Framework." Applied Cognitive Psychology: The Official Journal of the Society for Applied Research in Memory and Cognition 14, no. 7 (2000): S127–44.
- McDaniel, Mark A, Elizabeth L Glisky, Melissa J Guynn, and Barbara C Routhieaux. "Prospective Memory: A Neuropsychological Study." Neuropsychology 13, no. 1 (1999): 103.
- Mendrek, Adrianna, John Monterosso, Sara L Simon, Murray Jarvik, Arthur Brody, Richard Olmstead, Catherine P Domier, Mark S Cohen, Monique Ernst, and Edythe D London.
 "Working Memory in Cigarette Smokers: Comparison to Non-Smokers and Effects of Abstinence." Addictive Behaviors 31, no. 5 (2006): 833–44.
- Okuda, Jiro, Toshikatsu Fujii, Atsushi Yamadori, Ryuta Kawashima, Takashi Tsukiura, Reiko Fukatsu, Kyoko Suzuki, Masatoshi Ito, and Hiroshi Fukuda. "Participation of the Prefrontal Cortices in Prospective Memory: Evidence from a PET Study in Humans." Neuroscience Letters 253, no. 2 (1998): 127–30.
- Padilla, Concepción, Laura Pérez, and Pilar Andrés. "Chronic Exercise Keeps Working Memory and Inhibitory Capacities Fit." Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience 8 (2014): 49.
- Parrott, AC, and NJ Garnham. "Comparative Mood States and Cognitive Skills of Cigarette Smokers, Deprived Smokers and Nonsmokers." Human Psychopharmacology: Clinical and Experimental 13, no. 5 (1998): 367–76.
- Parrott, Andrew C. "REVIEW Nesbitt's Paradox Resolved? Stress and Arousal Modulation during Cigarette Smoking." Addiction 93, no. 1 (1998): 27–39.
- Patrick, Megan E, Yvonne M Terry McElrath, Deborah D Kloska, and John E Schulenberg. "High intensity Drinking among Young Adults in the United States: Prevalence, Frequency, and Developmental Change." Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 40, no. 9 (2016): 1905–12.
- Patterson, Emma. "Scoring_protocol.Pdf." (2010). Accessed April 27, 2021. https://docs.google.com/a/uncg.edu/viewer?a=v&pid=sites&srcid=ZGVmYXVsdGRvbWFp bnx0aGVpcGFxfGd4OjE0NDgxMDk3NDU1YWRIZTM&urp=gmail_link&gxids=7628.
- Pérez, Laura, Concepción Padilla, Fabrice BR Parmentier, and Pilar Andrés. "The Effects of Chronic Exercise on Attentional Networks." PLoS One 9, no. 7 (2014): e101478.
- "Physical Activity Healthy People 2030 | Health.Gov." Accessed October 29, 2020. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browse-objectives/physical-activity.

- Platt, Bradley, Ciarán O'Driscoll, Valerie H Curran, Peter G Rendell, and Sunjeev K Kamboj. "The Effects of Licit and Illicit Recreational Drugs on Prospective Memory: A Meta-Analytic Review." Psychopharmacology, 2019, 1–13.
- President's Council on Sports, Fitness & Nutrition. "Facts & Statistics." Text. HHS.gov, July 20, 2012. https://www.hhs.gov/fitness/resource-center/facts-and-statistics/index.html.
- Rendell, Peter G, and Fergus IM Craik. "Virtual Week and Actual Week: Age□related Differences in Prospective Memory." Applied Cognitive Psychology: The Official Journal of the Society for Applied Research in Memory and Cognition 14, no. 7 (2000): S43–62.
- Roig, Marc, Sasja Nordbrandt, Svend Sparre Geertsen, and Jens Bo Nielsen. "The Effects of Cardiovascular Exercise on Human Memory: A Review with Meta-Analysis." Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 37, no. 8 (2013): 1645–66.
- Sacks, Jeffrey J, Katherine R Gonzales, Ellen E Bouchery, Laura E Tomedi, and Robert D Brewer. "2010 National and State Costs of Excessive Alcohol Consumption." American Journal of Preventive Medicine 49, no. 5 (2015): e73–79.
- Schmitter-Edgecombe, Maureen, Ellen Woo, and David R Greeley. "Characterizing Multiple Memory Deficits and Their Relation to Everyday Functioning in Individuals with Mild Cognitive Impairment." Neuropsychology 23, no. 2 (2009): 168.
- Schnitzspahn, Katharina M, Andreas Ihle, Julie D Henry, Peter G Rendell, and Matthias Kliegel. "The Age-Prospective Memory-Paradox: An Exploration of Possible Mechanisms." International Psychogeriatrics 23, no. 4 (2011): 583.
- Selby, MJ, and RL Azrin. "Neuropsychological Functioning in Drug Abusers." Drug and Alcohol Dependence 50, no. 1 (1998): 39–45.
- Simons, Jon S, Marieke L Schölvinck, Sam J Gilbert, Chris D Frith, and Paul W Burgess. "Differential Components of Prospective Memory?: Evidence from FMRI." Neuropsychologia 44, no. 8 (2006): 1388–97.
- Smith, Geoff, Sergiola Del Sala, Robert H Logie, and Elizabeth A Maylor. "Prospective and Retrospective Memory in Normal Ageing and Dementia: A Questionnaire Study." Memory 8, no. 5 (2000): 311–21.
- Stern, Y. "Cognitive Reserve." Neuropsychologia 47, no. 10 (2009): 2015-28.
- Stern, Y. "What Is Cognitive Reserve? Theory and Research Application of the Reserve Concept," 2002.
- Stroth, Sanna, Katrin Hille, Manfred Spitzer, and Ralf Reinhardt. "Aerobic Endurance Exercise Benefits Memory and Affect in Young Adults." Neuropsychological Rehabilitation 19, no. 2 (2009): 223–43.

- Sunderland, Alan, John E Harris, and Alan D Baddeley. "Do Laboratory Tests Predict Everyday Memory? A Neuropsychological Study." Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior 22, no. 3 (1983): 341–57.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. "The Health Consequences of Smoking—50 Years of Progress: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta (GA): Centers for Disease Control and Prevention." National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, 2014.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2018) Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans, 2nd Edition. Retrieved from https://health.gov/paguidelines/second-edition/pdf/Physical_Activity_Guidelines_2nd_edition.pdf
- VanKim, Nicole A, Melissa Nelson Laska, Edward Ehlinger, Katherine Lust, and Mary Story. "Understanding Young Adult Physical Activity, Alcohol and Tobacco Use in Community Colleges and 4-Year Post-Secondary Institutions: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of Epidemiological Surveillance Data." BMC Public Health 10, no. 1 (2010): 208.
- Verburgh, Lot, Marsh Königs, Erik J. A. Scherder, and Jaap Oosterlaan. "Physical Exercise and Executive Functions in Preadolescent Children, Adolescents and Young Adults: A Meta-Analysis." British Journal of Sports Medicine 48, no. 12 (June 1, 2014): 973–79. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2012-091441.
- Voss, Michelle W, Lindsay S Nagamatsu, Teresa Liu-Ambrose, and Arthur F Kramer. "Exercise, Brain, and Cognition across the Life Span." Journal of Applied Physiology 111, no. 5 (2011): 1505–13.
- Wendt, Peter E, and Jarl Risberg. "Ethanol Reduces RCFB Activation of Left Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex during a Verbal Fluency Task." Brain and Language 77, no. 2 (2001): 197–215.
- West, Robert, Ritvij Bowry, and Jason Krompinger. "The Effects of Working Memory Demands on the Neural Correlates of Prospective Memory." Neuropsychologia 44, no. 2 (2006): 197– 207.
- West, Robert, and Jason Krompinger. "Neural Correlates of Prospective and Retrospective Memory." Neuropsychologia 43, no. 3 (2005): 418–33.
- Williams, D Gareth. "Effects of Cigarette Smoking on Immediate Memory and Performance in Different Kinds of Smoker." British Journal of Psychology 71, no. 1 (1980): 83–90.
- Wilson, Barbara A. The Cambridge Prospective Memory Test: CAMPROMPT. Pearson Assessment, 2005.
- Wilson, Barbara A, Nick Alderman, Paul W Burgess, Hazel Emslie, and Jonathan J Evans. BADS: Behavioural Assessment of the Dysexecutive Syndrome. Pearson, 1996.

- World Health Organization. Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health 2018. World Health Organization, 2019.
- Xue, Yue, Yanxiang Yang, and Tao Huang. "Effects of Chronic Exercise Interventions on Executive Function among Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review with Meta-Analysis." British Journal of Sports Medicine 53, no. 22 (2019): 1397–1404.
- Zamroziewicz, Marta, Sarah A Raskin, Howard Tennen, Carol S Austad, Rebecca M Wood, Carolyn R Fallahi, Alecia D Dager, Broderick Sawyer, Samantha Leen, and Godfrey D Pearlson. "Effects of Drinking Patterns on Prospective Memory Performance in College Students." Neuropsychology 31, no. 2 (2017): 191.
- Zöllig, Jacqueline, Robert West, Mike Martin, Mareike Altgassen, Ulrike Lemke, and Matthias Kliegel. "Neural Correlates of Prospective Memory across the Lifespan." Neuropsychologia 45, no. 14 (2007): 3299–3314.

APPENDIX A: SUBSTANCE USE DETAILS

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	77	80.2	80.2	80.2
	No	19	19.8	19.8	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	

Table A1. Ever Used Alcohol

Table A2. Age of First Drink

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	9 or 10 years old	1	1.0	1.3	1.3
	11 or 12 years old	2	2.1	2.6	3.9
	13 or 14 years old	6	6.3	7.8	11.7
	15 or 16 years old	12	12.5	15.6	27.3
	17 or 18 years old	30	31.3	39.0	66.2
	19 or 20 years old	17	17.7	22.1	88.3
	21 years old or older	9	9.4	11.7	100.0
	Total	77	80.2	100.0	
Missing	System	19	19.8		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A3. Days of Alcohol in the Past 30

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0 days	17	17.7	22.1	22.1
	1 or 2 days	29	30.2	37.7	59.7
	3 to 5 days	12	12.5	15.6	75.3
	6 to 9 days	13	13.5	16.9	92.2
	10 to 19 days	5	5.2	6.5	98.7

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	20 to 29 days	1	1.0	1.3	100.0
	Total	77	80.2	100.0	
Missing	System	19	19.8		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A4. Days of Binge Drinking

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0 days	25	26.0	41.7	41.7
	1 day	15	15.6	25.0	66.7
	2 days	7	7.3	11.7	78.3
	3 to 5 days	11	11.5	18.3	96.7
	6 to 9 days	2	2.1	3.3	100.0
	Total	60	62.5	100.0	
Missing	System	36	37.5		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A5. Most Drinks in A Sitting

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	1 or 2 drinks	25	26.0	41.7	41.7
	3 drinks	8	8.3	13.3	55.0
	4 drinks	5	5.2	8.3	63.3
	5 drinks	10	10.4	16.7	80.0
	6 or 7 drinks	7	7.3	11.7	91.7
	8 or 9 drinks	3	3.1	5.0	96.7
	10 or more drinks	2	2.1	3.3	100.0
	Total	60	62.5	100.0	
Missing	System	36	37.5		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A6. Ever Smoked

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	28	29.2	29.2	29.2
	No	68	70.8	70.8	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	

Table A7. Age of First Smoke

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	8 years old or younger	1	1.0	3.6	3.6
	11 or 12 years old	1	1.0	3.6	7.1
	13 or 14 years old	2	2.1	7.1	14.3
	15 or 16 years old	8	8.3	28.6	42.9
	17 or 18 years old	8	8.3	28.6	71.4
	19 or 20 years old	7	7.3	25.0	96.4
	21 years old or older	1	1.0	3.6	100.0
	Total	28	29.2	100.0	
Missing	System	68	70.8		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A8. Days of Cigarettes

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0 days	24	25.0	85.7	85.7
	1 or 2 days	2	2.1	7.1	92.9
	3 to 5 days	1	1.0	3.6	96.4
	All 30 days	1	1.0	3.6	100.0
	Total	28	29.2	100.0	
Missing	System	68	70.8		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A9. Cigarettes/Day

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Less than 1	24	25.0	85.7	85.7
	1	3	3.1	10.7	96.4
	11 to 20	1	1.0	3.6	100.0
	Total	28	29.2	100.0	
Missing	System	68	70.8		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A10. Ever Used EVP

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	44	45.8	45.8	45.8
	No	52	54.2	54.2	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	

Table A11. EVP with Nicotine

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	31	32.3	70.5	70.5
	No	13	13.5	29.5	100.0
	Total	44	45.8	100.0	
Missing	System	52	54.2		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A12. Nicotine Concentration

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Don't know	16	16.7	51.6	51.6
	1-12mg or 0.1-1.2%	1	1.0	3.2	54.8
	13-17mg or 1.3-1.7%	1	1.0	3.2	58.1

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative
					Percent
	18-24mg or 1.8-2.4%	4	4.2	12.9	71.0
	25+mg or 2.5+%	9	9.4	29.0	100.0
	Total	31	32.3	100.0	
Missing	System	65	67.7		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A13. Days of EVP Use

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	0 days	26	27.1	59.1	59.1
	1 or 2 days	7	7.3	15.9	75.0
	6 to 9 days	4	4.2	9.1	84.1
	10 to 19 days	2	2.1	4.5	88.6
	20 to 29 days	1	1.0	2.3	90.9
	All 30 days	4	4.2	9.1	100.0
	Total	44	45.8	100.0	
Missing	System	52	54.2		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A14. Occasions of EVP Use per Day

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Less than 1	5	5.2	27.8	27.8
	1	1	1.0	5.6	33.3
	2 to 5	5	5.2	27.8	61.1
	6 to 10	3	3.1	16.7	77.8
	11 to 20	2	2.1	11.1	88.9
	More than 20	2	2.1	11.1	100.0
	Total	18	18.8	100.0	
Missing	System	78	81.3		
Total		96	100.0		

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	1	1	1.0	5.6	5.6
	2 to 3	12	12.5	66.7	72.2
	4 to 5	2	2.1	11.1	83.3
	6 to 10	2	2.1	11.1	94.4
	More than 10	1	1.0	5.6	100.0
	Total	18	18.8	100.0	
Missing	System	78	81.3		
Total		96	100.0		

Table A15. Puffs of EVP per Occasion

Table A16. Use of Chew, Snuff, Dip, etc. in the Past 30 Days

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0 days	95	99.0	99.0	99.0
	3 to 5 days	1	1.0	1.0	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	

Table A17. Use of Cigars, Cigarillos, etc. in the Past 30 Days

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0 days	92	95.8	95.8	95.8
	3 to 5 days	1	1.0	1.0	96.9
	6 to 9 days	1	1.0	1.0	97.9
	10 to 19 days	1	1.0	1.0	99.0
	All 30 days	1	1.0	1.0	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	

Table A18. Use of Other Drugs

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	34	35.4	35.4	35.4
	No	62	64.6	64.6	100.0
	Total	96	100.0	100.0	